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The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge
and belief of the Issuer, the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does
not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.
This Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all the documents which are incorporated herein by reference
(see “Documents Incorporated by Reference”).
This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of, the Issuer or the Joint Lead
Managers (as defined in “Subscription and Sale” below) to subscribe for or purchase, any of the Bonds. The
distribution of this Prospectus and the offering of the Bonds in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law.
Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes are required by the Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers
to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions.
For a description of further restrictions on offers and sales of Bonds and distribution of this Prospectus, see
“Subscription and Sale” below.
No person is authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this Prospectus
and any information or representation not so contained must not be relied upon as having been authorised by or
on behalf of the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers. Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor any sale made in
connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the
affairs of the Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this Prospectus has been most recently amended
or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer since the date
hereof or the date upon which this Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that the
information contained in it or any other information supplied in connection with the Bonds is correct as of any
time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing
the same.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Joint Lead Managers accept no responsibility whatsoever for the contents
of this Prospectus or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Joint Lead Managers or on its
behalf in connection with the Issuer or the issue and offering of the Bonds. The Joint Lead Managers accordingly
disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which it might
otherwise have in respect of this Prospectus or any such statement.
The Issuer has not authorised the making or provision of any representation or information regarding the Issuer or
the Bonds other than as contained in this Prospectus or as approved for such purpose by the Issuer. Any such
representation or information should not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or the Joint Lead
Managers.
The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and are subject to U.S. tax law
requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Bonds may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United
States or to U.S. persons.
In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified, references to a “Member State” are references to a Member
State of the European Economic Area and references to “€”, “EUR” or “Euro” are to the currency introduced
at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union, and as defined in Article 2 of Council
Regulation (EC) No 974/98 of 3 May 1998 on the introduction of the euro, as amended. References to “billions”
are to thousands of millions.
The language of this Prospectus is English. Certain legislative references and technical terms have been cited
in their original language in order that the correct technical meaning may be ascribed to them under applicable
law.
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Certain figures included in this Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments; accordingly, figures
shown for the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly and figures shown as totals in certain
tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures which precede them.
MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ECPs ONLY TARGET
MARKET
Solely for the purposes of the manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect
of the Bonds has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Bonds is eligible counterparties and
professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID II”); and (ii) all
channels for distribution of the Bonds to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any
person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Bonds (a “distributor”) should take into
consideration the manufacturer’s target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is
responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Bonds (by either adopting or
refining the manufacturer‘s target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.
PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS
The Bonds are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold
or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (EEA). For these purposes,
a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1)
of MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the “Insurance Distribution
Directive”), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article
4(1) of MiFID II. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as
amended, the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise making them available to
retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise making
them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.
SINGAPORE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT PRODUCT CLASSIFICATION
Solely for the purposes of its obligations pursuant to sections 309B(1)(a) and 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and
Futures Act (Chapter 289 of Singapore) (the “SFA”), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant
persons (as defined in Regulation 3(b) of the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations
2018 (the “SF (CMP) Regulations”) that the Bonds are “prescribed capital markets products” (as defined in
the SF (CMP) Regulations) and “Excluded Investment Products” (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12:
Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on
Investment Products).
STABILISATION
In connection with the issue of the Bonds, J.P. Morgan Securities plc (the “Stabilising Manager(s)”) (or
any person acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) may over-allot Bonds or effect transactions
with a view to supporting the market price of the Bonds at a level higher than that which might otherwise
prevail. However, stabilisation may not occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on
which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the Bonds is made and, if begun, may cease
at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the Bonds and 60
days after the date of the allotment of the Bonds. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be
conducted by the relevant Stabilising Manager(s) (or any person acting on behalf of any Stabilising
Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Prospectus may contain forward-looking statements, including (without limitation) statements identified
by the use of terminology such as “anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”, “expects”, “intends”, “may”, “plans”,
“projects”, “will”, “would” or similar words. These statements are based on the Issuer’s current expectations
and projections about future events and involve substantial uncertainties. All statements, other than statements
of historical facts, contained herein regarding the Issuer’s strategy, goals, plans, future financial position,
projected revenues and costs or prospects are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are
subject to inherent risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified. Future events or
actual results could differ materially from those set forth in, contemplated by or underlying forward-looking
statements. The Issuer does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking
statements.
MARKET SHARE INFORMATION AND STATISTICS
Information regarding markets, market size, market share, market position, growth rates and other industry data
pertaining to the Group’s business contained in this Prospectus consists of estimates based on data reports
compiled by professional organisations and analysts, on data from other external sources, and on the Issuer’s
knowledge of its reference markets. In many cases, there is no readily available external information (whether
from trade associations, government bodies or other organisations) to validate market-related analyses and
estimates, requiring the Issuer to rely on internally developed estimates. While the Issuer has compiled,
extracted and accurately reproduced market or other industry data from external sources, including third parties
or industry or general publications, neither the Issuer nor the Joint Lead Managers have independently verified
that data. As far as the Issuer is aware, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced
information inaccurate or misleading. The Issuer cannot assure investors of the accuracy and completeness of,
and takes no responsibility for, such data other than the responsibility for the correct and accurate reproduction
thereof.
ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES
This Prospectus contains, or incorporates by reference, certain alternative performance including the
consolidated reclassified income statements and the net financial position that the Issuer believes provide a
more effective representation of its operating results and financial position.
Such indicators constitute alternative performance measures (“APMs”) for the purposes of the ESMA
(European Securities Markets Authority) Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures (the “Guidelines”).
While the Issuer’s management believes that the APMs herein are useful in evaluating the Issuer’s operating
results and financial position, this information should be considered as supplemental in nature and not as a
substitute for the related financial information prepared in accordance with IFRS. Therefore, these measures
should not be viewed alone but together with the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRS as of and for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, and as of and for six month periods ended 30
June 2019 and 2018.
For a correct understanding of these APMs, note the following:
the APMs are based exclusively on the historical data and are not indicative of the Issuer’s future
performance;
(ii)
although they are derived from the Issuer’s consolidated financial statements, the APMs are not
identified as accounting measures within the IFRS and have not been audited;
(iii)
the APMs are measures whose calculation is not regulated by the accounting standards used to
prepare the Issuer’s financial statements (IFRS), and therefore the criterion applied for their
calculation may not be consistent with that adopted by other companies or groups, which means
(i)
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that those measures may not be comparable with the measures presented by those companies or
groups; and
(iv)
the APMs used by the Issuer have been prepared in continuity and according to the same
definition and presentation for all the periods for which financial information has been provided
in this Prospectus.
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Risk Factors
The Issuer believes that the following factors may specifically affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the
Bonds.
Factors which the Issuer believes are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the
Bonds are also described below.
An investment in the Bonds involves risks. The Issuer has described below those risks that it currently consider
to be specific to the Issuer and the Bonds and which are material for taking an informed investment decision in
the Bonds. The Issuer has assessed the materiality of the risk factors below based on the probability of their
occurrence and the expected magnitude of their negative impact. Additional risks and uncertainties relating to
the Issuer that are not currently known to the Issuer or that it currently deems immaterial, may individually or
cumulatively also have a material adverse effect on the business, prospects, results of operations and/or
financial position of the Issuer and, if any of the following risks, or any other risk not currently known, actually
occurs, then the trading price of the Bonds could decline and Bondholders may lose all or part of their
investment.
Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus (including
any documents incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views, based upon their own judgment
and upon advice from such financial, legal and tax advisers as they have deemed necessary, prior to making
any investment decision.
Words and expressions defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds” or elsewhere in this Prospectus have
the same meaning in this section. References to a “Condition” is to such numbered condition in the Terms and
Conditions of the Bonds.
Risks relating to the Group’s business activities and industry
A sustained economic downturn or changes in legislation could result in a significant reduction in variable
fees, which are part of the Group’s consolidated revenues and profits.
The Group’s revenues are composed of recurring fees and variable fees. Recurring fees are affected by the
performance of the financial markets and national and international economic conditions. During the past years,
the economies where the Group operates underwent periods of deep economic recession. Recessionary
conditions and uncertainty in the macroeconomic environment adversely impacted in the past, and may
adversely impact in the future, on our consolidated revenues and profits. In particular, a sustained economic
downturn could lead to a decrease in assets under management and an investor shift toward lower risk products
that produce lower fees. The payment of variable fees, as well as their amount, would be affected by negative
performance of the financial products, which is in turn affected by the financial markets’ performance and by
any national or international economic conditions.
In addition, proposed changes in applicable laws and regulations may adversely affect the method of calculating
the Group’s variable fees.
The occurrence of either a sustained economic downturn or such regulatory changes could result in a reduction
of the Group’s recurring fees, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of
operations and financial condition.
The Group’s clients may withdraw assets under management at short notice.
The mutual funds managed by the Group are mainly open-ended and allow investors to reduce the aggregate
amount of their investment with no notice, or to withdraw altogether from such funds. In particular, with respect
to the Group’s mutual funds business, if stock markets are declining and/or the investment performance of the
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Group’s products is unsatisfactory, or if economic uncertainty leads to a deterioration in the real economy, the
pace of fund redemptions could accelerate. Withdrawals of assets under management would have an immediate
impact on management fees and therefore revenues and, depending on the extent of such withdrawals, could
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
In addition, in the event of a significant number of requests for withdrawal of assets under management, the
Group may be required to carry out sales of financial instruments when there is low liquidity in the market.
The Group relies heavily on the quality, retention and performance of its financial advisors and key
personnel.
The Group’s top ten financial advisors accounted for approximately 4.2% of the Group’s assets under
management at 31 December 2018 and for 4.1% at 30 June 2019. The Group’s success highly depends on its
ability to manage the network of financial advisors, as well as the Group’s ability to attract and retain qualified
employees, managers and financial advisors. Aggressive recruiting of the Group’s highest performing financial
advisors by the Group’s competitors could adversely affect the stability and the growth of the Group’s financial
advisor network.
The inability of the Group to recruit, train and retain financial advisors and maintain the stability of the Group’s
network, or the failure of the financial advisors to meet the Group’s performance objectives, could have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
In addition, the Group’s success greatly depends on the experience of the Group’s management, which has
extensive experience in the industry and has played a crucial role in its growth and in the continued development
of the Group’s business. In particular, the Chairman of the Board Pietro Giuliani, is a key figure for the success
of the Group and the implementation of its strategy. The failure to retain or find equally qualified replacements
for key personnel could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations or financial
condition.
The Group may not be able to attract and retain customers or the asset classes managed by the Group may
become less attractive to investors.
The Group’s success in the asset management market depends on its ability to continue to attract and retain a
loyal customer base.
In this regard, the Group’s financial results and achievement of its growth strategy is dependent on the
successful development and launch of new products. The Group may fail to develop commercially successful
new products, which may result in the Group failing to attract new customers or to retain existing ones.
The loss of a number of its largest customers could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
results of operations and financial condition. In addition, the majority of the Group’s activity is concentrated in
Northern and Central Italy, where competition for customers and inflows (investments) is intense. A loss of
competitiveness or diminution in customer base may have material adverse effects on the Group’s business,
results of operations and financial condition.
Operational mistakes or negligent or illegal acts committed by the financial advisors or operational
personnel in the course of professional activities could result in reputational damage or give rise to liability
for the Group with a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial
condition.
Although financial advisors under Italian law can be technically considered as independent contractors, they
are required to provide their services exclusively to an authorised investment company, which is in turn jointly
and severally liable to its individual customers for damages arising from the provision of such services. Certain

-2-

of the Issuer’s subsidiaries are authorised investment companies under Italian law and, consequently, they are
jointly and severally liable for damages arising from the activities of their financial advisors.
There can be no assurance that the Group’s financial advisors and/or asset managers will not commit mistakes,
negligent or illegal acts in the course of professional engagement, and the Group may suffer reputational damage
or potential regulatory liability if its procedures and risk management systems fail to identify, record and
manage such mistakes, negligent or illegal acts or conflicts of interest. Any such failure could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s reputation, business, results of operations and financial condition. Moreover, the
Group could be involved in administrative proceedings initiated by a regulatory authority on the basis of such
illegal acts, and could be subject to administrative penalties, which could have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
Furthermore, any non-compliance with regulatory requirements, anti-money laundering or international
sanctions regulations may also have a negative impact on the operational results of the Group, with material
consequences on the Group’s ratings.
The integration of acquired companies may not be as successful as the Group anticipates.
Between 2011 and 2019 several business reorganisations and commercial transactions were carried out,
including the acquisition of several new subsidiaries around the world. See ‘‘Business—History.’’
Such transactions and acquisitions present operational, strategic and financial risks, as well as risks associated
with compliance with applicable laws and regulations, which may result in failure to achieve financial
objectives associated with the acquisition or diversion of management attention. If the Group is unable to
successfully integrate the operations of an acquired business into its operations, this could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
The Issuer can make no assurance that the Group will be able to sustain the growth in its business and to
successfully implement its growth strategy in a timely manner.
Due to the cyclical nature of the Group’s industry, the Group’s results of operations are impacted by its ability
to implement its business strategy, which is based on: (i) continuing its organic growth, (ii) increasing efficiency
and effectiveness of its operations, (iii) monitoring the market to take potential merger and acquisition
opportunities, both in Italy and outside of Italy, and (iv) new asset class opportunity.
If the Group is unable to implement its growth strategy or encounters delays in such implementation or its
strategy fails to achieve the expected results, the Group’s business and prospects could be adversely affected
and growth rates registered in the past may not be maintained, and this could have material adverse effect on
the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
The Group’s business is sensitive to changes and uncertainties in the macroeconomic environment and, in
particular, to declines in financial markets.
The demand for the Group’s asset management products and services is linked to factors beyond its control
such as the macroeconomic climate and the performance of the financial markets in the countries in which the
Group operates, and in particular in Italy, where most of its products are distributed. The performance of
financial markets in which the Group operates and in particular of the Italian market is influenced by a number
of factors, including the perception of the market by investors, growth prospects and general credit conditions
In addition, on 29 March 2017 the United Kingdom (the “UK”) delivered to the European Council notice of its
intention to withdraw from the EU. The delivery of such notice started a two-year period during which the UK
negotiated with the EU the terms of its withdrawal and of its future relationship with the EU (the “Article 50
Withdrawal Agreement”). After several rejections of the Article 50 Withdrawal Agreement by the UK
Parliament, on 5 April 2019, the UK government requested a further extension of the two-year period referred
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to in Article 50 of the Treaty on the European Union (the “Article 50 Period”) until 31 October 2019, and the
European Council agreed. Following a further renewal request from the UK government, on 28 October 2019
the European Council agreed on an additional extension of the Article 50 Period until 31 January 2020.
There are a number of uncertainties in connection with such negotiations which could, inter alia, cause an
increase in volatility in the financial markets, a worsening in the terms of financing especially in the so-called
“peripheral” countries, including Italy, and a possible consequent economic slowdown.
Moreover, it cannot be excluded that in the EU Member States, including Italy, there may be further increases
in political and institutional instability, with a consequent rise in interest rates for sovereign debt, with a
subsequent adverse effect on the Italian financial markets and the Italian economy as a whole, influencing the
performance of the Group’s investments and leading to .a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
results of operations and financial condition.
The markets in which the Group operates are highly competitive and the Group’s inability to compete
effectively in such markets could lead to poor investment performance of the funds managed by the Group.
The Group competes in highly competitive markets on the basis of investment performance, brand recognition
and business reputation.
Any failure by the Group to compete effectively in such markets could lead to a loss of business and/or a failure
to win new business, which could decrease its revenues and have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, results of operations and financial condition. In particular, failure to compete could impact the funds
managed by the Group, which may experience poor investment performance, both generally and as compared
to their peers, against relevant benchmarks or in terms of absolute performance, depending on the type of fund,
leading to a decline in the value of such funds and a potential withdrawal of investments from those funds by
existing clients as well.
In addition, new domestic and international operators may enter the markets in which the Group operates and
thus intensify the competition by setting up a business model similar to the Group’s, which could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
Legal and regulatory risks
Risks related to financial information as of 30 September 2019 contained in this Prospectus.
The financial information as of 30 September 2019 incorporated by reference under “Documents Incorporated
by Reference” corresponds to the unaudited consolidated interim financial results of the Group as of 30
September 2019 approved by the Company’s board of directors on 5 November 2019 (the “Issuer’s Unaudited
Consolidated Interim Financial Report as of 30 September 2019”). As of the date of this Prospectus, the
Issuer’s Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Report as of 30 September 2019 has not been audited, and
will not be audited and, therefore, such financial information may not reflect the Group’s actual results of
operations.
The Group conducts its business operations in various jurisdictions and through legal entities incorporated
outside of Italy.
The Group conducts its business operations principally in Italy, and operates through subsidiaries, partnerships
and joint ventures in other jurisdictions, and, therefore, the Group is exposed to risks relating to external events,
such as changes in the applicable laws and regulations.
In particular, tax laws in the jurisdictions where the Group operates have detailed transfer pricing rules which
require that all transactions with non-resident related parties be priced using arm’s-length pricing principles.
The taxation authorities in the jurisdictions where the Group operates could challenge its transfer pricing
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policies and the Group may be exposed to tax litigation and fines, which could adversely affect the Group’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Moreover, in the event of a tax inspection, the authorities might evaluate, with a certain degree of discretion,
whether the foreign companies are in fact resident in Italy for tax purposes, with the subsequent application of
the Italian income tax law, regardless of where the income was generated. Should tax authorities assert that the
Group’s foreign subsidiaries are resident in Italy for tax purposes, the Group would be exposed to the risk of
tax litigation and sanctions, and its financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
The industries in which the Group operates are highly regulated. Compliance with applicable regulations is
costly and, if the Group fails to comply with applicable laws and regulations, or if the Group becomes subject
to new, more stringent laws and regulations, it may be adversely affected.
The Group is subject to an extensive supervisory and regulatory regime and cannot predict to what extent laws
or regulations will change in the future or the impact such changes will have on its business. The Bank of Italy
and the other regulatory authorities may from time to time make specific compliance enquiries. Responding to
such enquiries may be time-consuming and expensive and the Group may face regulatory proceedings if such
regulatory bodies were to detect or allege any failure to comply with applicable regulations, which would have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s reputation, business, results of operations and financial condition.
Furthermore, any regulatory change would also result in an increase of the Group’s regulatory compliance costs,
affecting the Group’s business of asset management and its offer of financial products. If the Group fails to
comply in a timely manner with regulatory changes and updates, this could have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition. See Business Description—Legislative and
Regulatory Framework.
Internal control risks
The outsourced administrative and IT activities of the Group expose it to operational risks from internal and
external events and could result into unauthorized disclosure and use of customers’ personal information
and data.
The Group’s administrative and IT activities are outsourced. Therefore, the Group’s business is exposed to
many types of internal operational risks, including disruptions of the Group’s information systems and
processes, material operational error, record-keeping errors or errors resulting from faulty computers or
telecommunication systems, embezzlement by the Group’s operational personnel or financial advisors, its
internal controls and/or inadequate procedures. Maintaining the Group’s network security is of critical
importance and the occurrence of any of the above events could lead to unauthorized disclosure or manipulation
of the Group’s and customers’ personal information and data, whether through an external breach of the Group’s
network security or otherwise, thus exposing the Group to customers’ withdrawal, as well as costly litigation
and compensation and damage the Group’s reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Group is further exposed to risks relating to external events, such as changes in the applicable laws and
regulations requiring changes in its operational and control procedures, force-majeure or other unpredictable
events which may affect in the Group’s activities or operational systems and as a result require that the Group
activate its emergency plans.
The Group may be subject to administrative liability if its internal anti-corruption controls and policies are
inadequate or are not effectively implemented.
Italian Legislative Decree No. 231 of 8 June 2001 (“Decree 231”) allows Italian corporate entities to implement
compliance procedures to defend themselves against the administrative liability that may attach to them under
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Decree 231 for crimes committed in their interest or to their advantage by individuals who have a functional
relationship with such corporate entities, such as employees, directors and representatives.
As of the date of this Prospectus, the following companies of the Group have adopted organizational,
management and control models pursuant to Decree 231 (“OMC models”): Azimut Holding S.p.A., Azimut
Capital Management SGR S.p.A. and Azimut Libera Impresa SGR S.p.A..
If the Group or any of the Group’s companies is found liable under Decree 231 and sanctions are imposed, its
authorisations, licences, concessions and financing agreements may be terminated (or its ability to draw under
financing agreements may be suspended) and it may face temporary or permanent suspension of its operations,
debarment from contracting with public authorities and debarment or cross-debarment from public funding,
which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Risks related to the nature of the Bonds
The Bonds are fixed rate securities and are vulnerable to fluctuations in market interest rates.
The Bonds will carry fixed interest. A holder of a security with a fixed interest rate is exposed to the risk that
the price of such security falls as a result of changes in the current interest rate on the capital market (the
“Market Interest Rate”). While the nominal interest rate of a security with a fixed interest rate is fixed during
the life of such security or during a certain period of time, the Market Interest Rate typically changes on a daily
basis. As the Market Interest Rate changes, the price of such security changes in the opposite direction. If the
Market Interest Rate increases, the price of such security typically falls, until the yield of such security is
approximately equal to the Market Interest Rate. Conversely, if the Market Interest Rate falls, the price of a
security with a fixed interest rate typically increases, until the yield of such security is approximately equal to
the Market Interest Rate. Investors should be aware that movements of the Market Interest Rate could adversely
affect the market price of the Bonds.
The credit ratings of the Company and the Bonds may not reflect the potential impact of all risks.
On 6 November 2019, Fitch Rating Ltd. (“Fitch”) announced that it had placed both the Company’s BBB longterm issuer default rating and the BBB rating on the Company’s long-term outstanding unsecured indebtedness
on rating watch negative. It further announced that it expected to issue a long-term rating of BBB- to the Bonds.
On 9 December 2019, Fitch announced that it had downgraded the Company’s long-term issuer default rating
and its rating in respect of long-term outstanding unsecured indebtedness to BBB- (i.e. the same rating as the
Bonds) and assigned a final long-term rating of BBB- to the Bonds. There can be no assurance that the credit
ratings assigned to the Company or the Bonds will not be downgraded in the future, and any change in the
Company’s credit rating could negatively impact its cost of capital or its ability to effectively execute aspects
of its own strategy.
In addition, these ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional
factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Bonds. A credit rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any
time.
Any change in the credit rating assigned to the Issuer and/or to the Bonds may affect the market value of the
Bonds.
For further information, see “Recent Developments”.
The claims of Bondholders are structurally subordinated with respect to the Issuer’s subsidiaries.
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The operations of the Group are principally conducted through subsidiaries of the Issuer. Bondholders will not
have a claim against any subsidiaries of the Issuer. The claims of creditors of any of the Issuer’s subsidiaries
will have priority to the assets and earnings of such subsidiary over the claims of creditors of the Issuer (whether
such creditors are secured or unsecured). The obligations under the Bonds will be “structurally” subordinated
to the claims of creditors of the Issuer’s subsidiaries, meaning that in the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation,
reorganization or similar proceedings relating to the Group’s subsidiaries, holders of their debt and their trade
creditors will generally be entitled to payment of their claims from the assets of such subsidiaries before any
assets are made available for distribution to holders of the Bonds.
The Bonds may be redeemed prior to maturity.
In the event that the Issuer would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in respect of any Bonds due to
any withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or
governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of
the Republic of Italy or any political subdivision thereof or any authority therein or thereof having power to
tax, the Issuer may, pursuant to Condition 5(b) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for taxation reasons),
redeem all outstanding Bonds in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Bonds (the “Conditions”). If
the Issuer calls and redeems the Bonds in the circumstances mentioned above, the Bondholders may not be able
to reinvest the redemption proceeds in comparable securities offering a yield as high as that of the Bonds.
Prospective investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.
Because the Global Bonds are held by or on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, investors
will have to rely on their procedures for transfer, payment and communication with the Issuer.
The Bonds will be represented by the Global Bonds except in certain limited circumstances described in the
Permanent Global Bond. The Global Bonds will be deposited with the Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg. Except in certain limited circumstances described in the Permanent Global Bond,
investors will not be entitled to receive definitive Bonds. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will maintain
records of the beneficial interests in the Global Bonds. While the Bonds are represented by the Global Bonds,
investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.
The Issuer will discharge its payment obligations under the Bonds by making payments to or to the order of the
Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg for distribution to their account holders. A
holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Bond must rely on the procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg to receive payments under the Bonds. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records
relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in the Global Bonds.
Holders of beneficial interests in the Global Bonds will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the Bonds.
Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg to appoint appropriate proxies.
The Bonds provide no constraints on the incurrence of debt and are unsecured.
The Conditions do not restrict the amount of indebtedness which the Issuer and its subsidiaries may from time
to time incur. In the event of any insolvency or winding-up of the Issuer, the Bonds will rank equally with the
Issuer’s other unsecured senior indebtedness and, accordingly, any increase in the amount of the Issuer’s
unsecured senior indebtedness in the future may reduce the amount recoverable by Bondholders. In addition,
the Bonds are unsecured and, except to the limited extent provided in Condition 3 (Negative Pledge), do not
contain any restriction on the giving of security by the Issuer and its subsidiaries over present and future
indebtedness. Where security has been granted over assets of the Issuer to secure indebtedness, in the event of
any insolvency or winding-up of the Issuer, such indebtedness will, in respect of such assets, rank in priority
over the Bonds and the other unsecured indebtedness of the Issuer.
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Minimum denomination.
As the Bonds have a denomination consisting of the minimum denomination plus a higher integral multiple of
another smaller amount, it is possible that the Bonds may be traded in amounts in excess of €100,000 (or its
equivalent) that are not integral multiples of €100,000 (or its equivalent). In such case, a Bondholder who, as a
result of trading such amounts, holds a principal amount of less than the minimum denomination may not
receive a definitive Bond in respect of such holding (should definitive Bonds be printed) and would need to
purchase a principal amount of Bonds such that its holding amounts to the minimum denomination.
Payments in respect of the Bonds may in certain circumstances be made subject to withholding or deduction
of tax.
All payments in respect of Bonds will be made free and clear of withholding or deduction of Italian taxation,
unless the withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the Issuer will pay such additional amounts
as will result in the Bondholders receiving such amounts as they would have received in respect of such Bonds
had no such withholding or deduction been required. The Issuer's obligation to gross up is, however, subject to
a number of exceptions, including withholding or deduction of imposta sostitutiva (Italian substitute tax),
pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1 April 1996, a brief description of which is set out below.
See also the section headed “Taxation” below.
Prospective purchasers of Bonds should consult their tax advisers as to the overall tax consequences of
acquiring, holding and disposing of Bonds and receiving payments of interest, principal and/or other amounts
under the Bonds, including in particular the effect of any state, regional or local tax laws of any country or
territory. See also the section headed “Taxation” below
Imposta sostitutiva
Imposta sostitutiva (Italian substitute tax) is applied to payments of interest and other income (including the
difference between the redemption amount and the issue price) at a rate of 26% to (i) certain Italian resident
Bondholders, (ii) non-Italian resident Bondholders who have not complied in due time with the procedures set
forth in Italian Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1 April 1996 and in the relevant implementation rules in order to
claim the exemption and (iii) non-Italian resident Bondholders who are resident, for tax purposes, in countries
which do not allow for a satisfactory exchange of information with Italy (the imposta sostitutiva may be reduced
by applicable double tax treaty, if any), including institutional investors incorporated in such countries and
certain international bodies and Central Banks.
Change of law or administrative practice.
The Conditions are governed by English law in effect on the date of this Prospectus, save that provisions
convening meetings of Bondholders and the appointment of a Bondholders’ Representative are subject to
compliance with mandatory provisions of Italian law. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible
judicial decision or change to English law and/or Italian law (where applicable) or administrative practice after
the date of this Prospectus.
Decisions at Bondholders’ meetings bind all Bondholders.
The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of Bondholders to consider matters affecting their
interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Bondholders including Bondholders
who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Bondholders who voted in a manner contrary to the
majority. In addition, the provisions relating to Bondholders’ meetings (including quorums and voting
majorities) are subject to compliance with certain mandatory provisions of Italian law.
Any such modifications to the Bonds, which may include, without limitation, lowering the ranking of the Bonds,
reducing the amount of principal and interest payable on the Bonds, changing the time and manner of payment,
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changing provisions relating to redemption, limiting remedies on the Bonds, and changing the amendment
provisions, may adversely impact Bondholders' rights as well as the market value of the Bonds.
Bondholders’ meetings provisions may change by operation of law or because of changes in the Issuer’s
circumstances.
The provisions relating to Bondholders’ meetings (including quorums and voting majorities) are subject to
compliance with certain mandatory provisions of Italian law, which may change during the life of the Bonds.
In addition, as currently drafted, the rules concerning Bondholders’ meetings are intended to follow mandatory
provisions of Italian law that apply to Bondholders’ meetings where the issuer is an Italian company. As at the
date of this Prospectus, the Issuer is a listed company but, if its shares were de-listed on a securities market
while the Bonds are still outstanding, then the mandatory provisions of Italian law that apply to Bondholders’
meetings would be different (particularly in relation to the rules relating to the calling of meetings, participation
by Bondholders at meetings, quorums and voting majorities). In addition, certain Bondholders’ meetings
provisions could change as a result of amendments to the Issuer’s by-laws. Accordingly, Bondholders should
not assume that the provisions relating to Bondholders’ meetings contained in the Agency Agreement and
summarised in the Conditions will correctly reflect mandatory provisions of Italian law applicable to
Bondholders’ meetings at any future date during the life of the Bonds.

Risks related to the offer to the public and admission of the securities to trading on a regulated
market
There is no active trading market for the Bonds.
The Bonds are new securities which may not be widely distributed and for which there is currently no active
trading market. If the Bonds are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount to their initial
offering price, depending upon prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities, general economic
conditions and the financial condition of the Issuer and the Group. Although application has been made to
Euronext Dublin for the Bonds to be listed on the Official List and to be admitted to trading on the Regulated
Market, there is no assurance that such application will be accepted or that an active trading market will develop.
Accordingly, there is no assurance as to the development or liquidity of any trading market for the Bonds.
Transfers of the Bonds may be restricted, which may adversely affect the secondary market liquidity and/or
trading prices of the Bonds.
The ability to transfer the Bonds may also be restricted by securities laws or regulations of certain jurisdictions
or regulatory bodies. See “Subscription and Sale”. The Bonds have not been, and will not be, registered under
the Securities Act, as amended (the “Securities Act”) or any state securities laws or the securities laws of any
other jurisdiction. Bondholders may not offer the Bonds in the United States or for the account or benefit of a
U.S. person, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration
requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. It is the obligation of each Bondholder
to ensure that offers and sales of Bonds comply with all applicable securities laws. In addition, transfers to
certain persons in certain other jurisdictions may be limited by law, or may result in the imposition of penalties
or liability. For a description of restrictions which may be applicable to transfers of the Bonds, see “Subscription
and Sale”.
Delisting of the Bonds.
Application has been made to Euronext Dublin for the Bonds to be listed on the Official List and admitted to
trading on the Regulated Market. The Bonds may subsequently be delisted despite the best efforts of the Issuer
to maintain such listing and, although no assurance is made as to the liquidity of the Bonds as a result of listing,
any delisting of the Bonds may have a material effect on a Bondholder’s ability to resell the Bonds on the
secondary market.
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Exchange rate risks and exchange controls.
The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Bonds in Euro. This presents certain risks relating to currency
conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the
“Investor’s Currency”) other than Euro. These include the risk that exchange rates may change significantly
(including changes due to devaluation of the Euro or revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that
authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An
appreciation in the value of the Investor’s Currency relative to the Euro would decrease (i) the Investor’s
Currency equivalent yield on the Bonds, (ii) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable
on the Bonds and (iii) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent market value of the Bonds.
In addition, government and monetary authorities may impose, as some have done in the past, exchange controls
that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or
principal than expected, or no interest or principal.
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Documents Incorporated by Reference
The following information shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Prospectus:
(1) the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 December
2018 (the “Issuer’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2018”), together with the
auditors’ report for the period at and for the year ended 31 December 2018 (see the following hyperlink:
http://www.azimut-group.com/documents/36325/1166381/Relazione+2018+ENG.pdf/89edc137-a45b490a-8555-ffe85461464d);
(2) the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 December
2017 (the “Issuer’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2017”), together with the
auditors’ report for the period at and for the year ended 31 December 2017 which have been previously
published on the Issuer’s Website (see the following hyperlink: http://www.azimutgroup.com/documents/36325/1166381/Relazione+2017+ENG.pdf/3fe072c3-9cc5-4cee-976b8b6193104088);
(3) the unaudited consolidated interim financial report of the Issuer as at and for the period ended 30
September 2019 (the “Issuer’s Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Report as of 30 September
2019”
(see
the
following
hyperlink:
http://www.azimutgroup.com/documents/36325/1166381/Trimestrale+30+settembre+2019_EN_FINALE.pdf/bab524200ad1-488c-87cb-f82e55479e76);
(4) the unaudited1 consolidated interim financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the period ended 30
June 2019 (the “Issuer’s Consolidated Interim Financial Report as of 30 June 2019”, together with the
auditors’ report as at and for the period ended 30 June 2019 (see the following hyperlink:
http://www.azimut-group.com/documents/36325/1166381/Relazione+1H+2019+ENG.pdf/5ef725cd4fc3-4acd-8a5e-69fe21da1e8e);
(5) the Azimut Group Fixed Income Presentation dated 5 November 2019 (the “2019 Fixed Income
Presentation”)
(see
the
following
hyperlink:
http://www.azimutgroup.com/documents/36325/1106811/2019_11_Project+GoldenEye_Investor+presentation+v+NO+T.p
df/7537a2fd-81e9-4aec-b82f-ad78cdc14d1a).
The consolidated financial statements of the Issuer referred to above are translated into English from the original
Italian.
Cross-reference list
The following table shows where the information incorporated by reference in this Prospectus can be found in
the above-mentioned documents.
Issuer’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2018
Management report…………............................................................................................................
Consolidated balance sheet………….................................................................................................
Consolidated income statement…......................................................................................................
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income….........................................................................
Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity…...........................................................
Consolidated cash flow statement…...................................................................................................
Notes to the consolidated financial statements...................................................................................
Independent auditors’ report...............................................................................................................

Page number(s)
13-79
83-84
85-86
87
88-91
92-93
95-200
323-332

Issuer’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2017
Management report…………............................................................................................................
Consolidated balance sheet………….................................................................................................
Consolidated income statement…......................................................................................................

Page number(s)
13-73
76-77
78

The Issuer’s Consolidated Interim Financial Report as of 30 June 2019 has been subject to limited audit review, in accordance with the criteria for a review
recommended by the Italian competent authority (CONSOB) in Resolution no. 10867/1997.
1
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income….........................................................................
Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity…...........................................................
Consolidated cash flow statement…...................................................................................................
Notes to the consolidated financial statements...................................................................................
Independent auditors’ report...............................................................................................................

79
80-83
84-85
87-169
331-341

Issuer’s Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Report as of 30 September 2019
Management report…………............................................................................................................
Consolidated balance sheet………….................................................................................................
Consolidated income statement…......................................................................................................
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income….........................................................................
Consolidated cash flow statement…...................................................................................................
Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity…...........................................................
Basis of preparation

Page number(s)
7-21
22-23
24
25
26-27
28-30
31-41

Issuer’s Consolidated Interim Financial Report as of 30 June 2019
Management report…………............................................................................................................
Consolidated balance sheet………….................................................................................................
Consolidated income statement…......................................................................................................
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income….........................................................................
Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity…...........................................................
Consolidated cash flow statement…...................................................................................................
Notes to the consolidated financial statements...................................................................................
Independent auditors’ report...............................................................................................................

Page number(s)
7-25
26-27
28
29
30-32
33-34
35-113
115

Any information incorporated by reference that is not included in the above cross-reference list is considered
as additional information and is not required by the relevant schedules of the Commission Delegated Regulation
(EU) 2019/980.
As long as any applicable laws so require, the documents incorporated by reference are available on the website
of the Issuer (www.azimut-group.com) and may be inspected and are available free of charge during normal
business hours at the registered office of the Issuer (Via Cusani, 4, 20121 Milan, Italy).
The information on the website of the Issuer (www.azimut-group.com), as well as any information on any other
website mentioned in this Prospectus does not form part of this Prospectus and has not been scrutinised or
approved by the CBI unless specific information is expressly incorporated by reference herein.
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Terms and Conditions of the Bonds
The following are the terms and conditions substantially in the form in which they will be endorsed on the Bonds:
The issue of the Bonds was authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Azimut Holding S.p.A. (the
“Issuer”) on 3 December 2019. A fiscal agency agreement dated 12 December 2019 (the “Fiscal Agency
Agreement”) has been entered into in relation to the Bonds between the Issuer, BNP Paribas Securities Services,
Luxembourg Branch as fiscal agent and the paying agents named in it. The fiscal agent and the paying agents for the
time being are referred to below respectively as the “Fiscal Agent” and the “Paying Agents” (which expression shall
include the Fiscal Agent). The Fiscal Agency Agreement includes the form of the Bonds and the coupons relating to
them (the “Coupons”). Copies of the Fiscal Agency Agreement are available for inspection during normal business
hours at the specified offices of the Paying Agents. The holders of the Bonds (the “Bondholders”) and the holders
of the Coupons (whether or not attached to the relevant Bonds) (the “Couponholders”) are deemed to have notice
of all the provisions of the Fiscal Agency Agreement applicable to them.
1

2

Form, Denomination and Title
(a)

Form and denomination: The Bonds are serially numbered and in bearer form in the denominations of
Euro 100,000 and integral multiples of Euro 1,000 in excess thereof up to and including Euro 199,000,
each with Coupons attached on issue. No definitive Bonds will be issued with a denomination below
Euro 100,000.

(b)

Title: Title to the Bonds and Coupons passes by delivery. The holder of any Bond or Coupon will (except
as otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it is
overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any interest in it, any writing on it, or its theft
or loss) and no person will be liable for so treating the holder.

Status
The Bonds and Coupons constitute direct, general, unconditional and (subject to Condition 3) unsecured
obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves.
The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds and the Coupons shall, save for such exceptions as may
be provided by applicable legislation and subject to Condition 3, at all times rank at least equally with all its
other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations. The Bonds constitute obbligazioni pursuant
to Articles 2410 et seq. of the Italian Civil Code.

3

Negative Pledge
So long as any Bond or Coupon remains outstanding (as defined in the Fiscal Agency Agreement), the Issuer
will not, and will ensure that none of its Subsidiaries will create, or have outstanding, any mortgage, charge,
lien, pledge or other form of encumbrance or security interest, upon the whole or any part of its present or future
undertaking, assets or revenues (including any uncalled capital) to secure any Relevant Indebtedness or to
secure any guarantee or indemnity in respect of any Relevant Indebtedness, without at the same time or prior
thereto according to the Bonds and the Coupons (i) the same security as is created or subsisting to secure any
such Relevant Indebtedness, guarantee or indemnity or (ii) such other security as shall be approved by an
Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Fiscal Agency Agreement) of the Bondholders.
In these Conditions:
(i)

“Relevant Indebtedness” means any present or future indebtedness (whether being principal, premium,
interest or other amounts) which is in the form of, or represented or evidenced by, bonds, notes,
debentures, debenture stock, loan stock or other securities whether issued for cash or in whole or in part
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for a consideration other than cash which for the time being are, or are intended to be or capable of being,
quoted, listed or dealt in or traded on any stock exchange or over-the-counter or other securities market.

4

(ii)

“Subsidiary” means in relation to any person at any time, a company, body corporate, corporation,
association or other business entity (a) 50 per cent. or more of the Voting Rights of which is at the
relevant time directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such person or (b) whose affairs and policies
at such time such person controls or has the power to control, whether by ownership of Voting Rights,
share capital, contract, the power to appoint and remove members of the board of directors or other
governing body or otherwise or (c) whose financial statements are at such time, in accordance with
applicable law and generally accepted accounting principles, consolidated with such person’s financial
statements.

(iii)

“Voting Rights” means the right generally to vote at a general meeting of holders of ordinary shares of
the Issuer (irrespective of whether or not, at the time, stock of any other class or classes shall have, or
might have, voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency) or to elect members of the
board of directors or other governing body of the Issuer.

Interest
The Bonds bear interest from and including 12 December 2019 at the rate of 1.625 per cent. per annum, payable
annually in arrear on 12 December in each year commencing on 12 December 2020 (each an “Interest Payment
Date”) in equal instalments of Euro 16.25 per Calculation Amount (as defined below). Each Bond will cease to
bear interest from the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of principal is improperly
withheld or refused. In such event it shall continue to bear interest at such rate (both before and after judgment)
until whichever is the earlier of (a) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Bond up to that day are
received by or on behalf of the relevant holder, and (b) the day seven days after the Fiscal Agent has notified
Bondholders of receipt of all sums due in respect of all the Bonds up to that seventh day (except to the extent
that there is failure in the subsequent payment to the relevant holders under these terms and conditions (the
“Conditions).
Where interest is to be calculated in respect of a period which is shorter than an Interest Period (as defined
below), the day-count fraction used will be the number of days in the relevant period, from and including the
date from which interest begins to accrue to but excluding the date on which it falls due, divided by the number
of days in the Interest Period in which the relevant period falls (including the first such day but excluding the
last).
In these Conditions, the period beginning on and including 12 December 2019 and ending on but excluding the
first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on and including an Interest Payment Date
and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date is called an “Interest Period”.
Interest in respect of any Bond shall be calculated per Euro 1,000 in principal amount of the Bonds (the
“Calculation Amount”). The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for any period shall be equal
to the product of 1.625 per cent., the Calculation Amount and the day-count fraction for the relevant period,
rounding the resulting figure to the nearest cent (half a cent being rounded upwards).

5

Redemption and Purchase
(a)

Final redemption: Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be
redeemed at their principal amount on 12 December 2024 (the “Maturity Date”). The Bonds may not
be redeemed at the option of the Issuer other than in accordance with this Condition 5.

(b)

Redemption for taxation reasons: The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole,
but not in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Bondholders
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(which notice shall be irrevocable), at their principal amount, together with interest accrued to the date
fixed for redemption), if (i) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided
or referred to in Condition 7 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of
the Republic of Italy or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax,
or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or
amendment becomes effective on or after 12 December 2019, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided
by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it, provided that no such notice of redemption shall
be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such
additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Bonds then due. Prior to the publication of any
notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 5(b), the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a
certificate signed by two authorised signatories of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect
such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right
of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred, and an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised
standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a
result of such change or amendment.
All Bonds in respect of which any notice of redemption is given under this Condition shall be redeemed
on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition.

6

(c)

Redemption at the option of the Issuer (Issuer Maturity Par Call): the Issuer may, having given not
less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ notice, in accordance with Condition 13 (Notices), to the
Bondholders (which notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for redemption), redeem
the Bonds then outstanding in whole, but not in part, at any time during the period commencing on (and
including) the day that is 90 days prior to the Maturity Date to (but excluding) the Maturity Date, at their
principal amount, together with any accrued and unpaid interest up to (but excluding) the date of
redemption.

(d)

Purchase: The Issuer and its Subsidiaries may at any time purchase Bonds in the open market or
otherwise at any price (provided that they are purchased together with all unmatured Coupons relating
to them). The Bonds so purchased, while held by or on behalf of the Issuer or any such Subsidiary, shall
not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the Bondholders and shall not be deemed to be
outstanding for the purposes of calculating quorums at meetings of the Bondholders or for the purposes
of Condition 11(a).

(e)

Cancellation: All Bonds so redeemed or purchased under this Condition 5 and any unmatured Coupons
attached to or surrendered with them (other than any Bonds or Coupons purchased in the ordinary course
of a business of dealing in securities) will be cancelled and may not be re-issued or resold.

Payments
(a)

Method of Payment: Payments of principal and interest will be made against presentation and surrender
(or, in the case of a partial payment, endorsement) of Bonds or the appropriate Coupons (as the case may
be) at the specified office of any Paying Agent by transfer to a Euro account maintained by the payee
with a bank in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET System. Payments of interest due in
respect of any Bond other than on presentation and surrender of matured Coupons shall be made only
against presentation and either surrender or endorsement (as appropriate) of the relevant Bond.

(b)

Payments subject to laws: All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws
and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 7. No
commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Bondholders or Couponholders in respect of such
payments.
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(c)

Surrender of unmatured Coupons: Each Bond should be presented for redemption together with all
unmatured Coupons relating to it, failing which the amount of any such missing unmatured Coupon (or,
in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured
Coupon which the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal amount due) will be deducted
from the sum due for payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the manner
mentioned above against surrender of the relevant missing Coupon not later than 10 years after the
Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7) for the relevant payment of principal.

(d)

Payments on business days: A Bond or Coupon may only be presented for payment on a day which is
a business day in the place of presentation and a TARGET Settlement Day. No further interest or other
payment will be made as a consequence of the day on which the relevant Bond or Coupon may be
presented for payment under this Condition 6 falling after the due date. In this Condition “business day”
means a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open in the relevant city.

(e)

Paying Agents: The initial Paying Agents and their initial specified offices are listed below. The Issuer
reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and appoint
additional or other Paying Agents, provided that it will maintain (i) a Fiscal Agent and (ii) Paying Agents
having specified offices in at least two major European cities.

In these Conditions:
“TARGET Settlement Day” means any day on which the TARGET System is open; and
“TARGET System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer or
any successor thereto.
7

Taxation
All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Bonds and the Coupons
shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future
taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or
assessed by or on behalf of the Republic of Italy or any political subdivision thereof or any authority therein or
thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event the Issuer
shall pay such additional amounts as will result in receipt by the Bondholders and the Couponholders of such
amounts as would have been receivable by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except
that no such additional amounts shall be payable in respect of any Bond or Coupon:
(a)

presented for payment in the Republic of Italy; or

(b)

presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or
governmental charges in respect of such Bond or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with
the Republic of Italy other than the mere holding of the Bond or Coupon; or

(c)

presented for payment by, or on behalf of, a holder who is entitled to avoid such withholding or deduction
in respect of the Bond or Coupon by making a declaration or any other statement to the relevant tax
authority, including, but not limited to, a declaration of residence or non-residence or other similar claim
for exemption, and fails to do so in due time; or

(d)

in the event of payment to a non-Italian resident legal entity or a non-Italian resident individual, to the
extent that interest or other amounts are paid to a non-Italian resident legal entity or a non-Italian resident
individual which is resident in a country which does not allow for a satisfactory exchange of information
with the Italian authorities (such States being currently listed in the Ministerial Decree of 4 September
1996 as amended from time to time); or
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(e)

on account of imposta sostitutiva pursuant to Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1 April 1996 (as, or as may
subsequently be, amended or supplemented) and related regulations of implementation which have been
or may subsequently be enacted (“Decree 239”) with respect to any Bond or Coupon, including all
circumstances in which the procedures to obtain an exemption from imposta sostitutiva or any alternative
future system of deduction or withholding set forth in Decree 239, have not been met or complied with,
except where such procedures have not been met or complied with due to the actions or omissions of the
Issuer or its agents; or

(f)

presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder of
it would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting such Bond or Coupon for payment
on the last day of such period of 30 days.

For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding any other provision of the Conditions, any amounts to be paid on
the Bonds by or on behalf of the Issuer, will be paid net of any deduction or withholding imposed or required
pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “Code”), or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code (or any regulations
thereunder or official interpretations thereof) or an intergovernmental agreement between the United States and
another jurisdiction facilitating the implementation thereof (or any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or
practices implementing such an intergovernmental agreement) (any such withholding or deduction, a “FATCA
Withholding”). Neither the Issuer nor any other person will be required to pay any additional amounts in
respect of FATCA Withholding.
In these Conditions, “Relevant Date” means whichever is the later of (i) the date on which such payment first
becomes due and (ii) if the full amount payable has not been received by the Principal Paying Agent on or prior
to such due date, the date on which, the full amount having been so received, notice to that effect shall have
been given to the Bondholders. Any reference in these Conditions to principal and/or interest shall be deemed
to include any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition.
8

Events of Default
If any of the following events occurs and is continuing:
(a)

Non-Payment: the Issuer fails to pay the principal of or any interest on any of the Bonds when due and
such failure continues for a period of five days; or

(b)

Breach of Other Obligations: the Issuer does not perform or comply with any one or more of its other
obligations in the Bonds, which default is incapable of remedy or is not remedied within 30 days after
notice of such default shall have been given to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office by any Bondholder;
or

(c)

Cross-Default: (i) any other present or future indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries for or
in respect of moneys borrowed or raised becomes (or becomes capable of being declared) due and
payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of any actual or potential default, event of default or the
like (howsoever described), or (ii) any such indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case may be,
within any originally applicable grace period, or (iii) the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries fails to pay
when due any amount payable by it under any present or future guarantee for, or indemnity in respect
of, any moneys borrowed or raised, provided that the aggregate amount of the relevant indebtedness,
guarantees and indemnities in respect of which one or more of the events mentioned above in this
Condition 8(c) have occurred equals or exceeds Euro 20,000,000 or its equivalent; or

(d)

Enforcement Proceedings: a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is levied, enforced
or sued out on or against any part of the property, assets or revenues of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries
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having an aggregate value of at least Euro 20,000,000 or its equivalent and is not discharged or stayed
within 30 days; or
(e)

Security Enforced: any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance, present or future, created
or assumed by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries having an aggregate value of at least Euro 20,000,000
or its equivalent becomes enforceable and any step is taken to enforce it (including the taking of
possession or the appointment of a receiver, manager or other similar person); or

(f)

Insolvency: the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries is (or is, or could be, deemed by law or a court to be)
insolvent or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts, stops, suspends or threatens to stop or suspend payment
of all or a material part of (or of a particular type of) its debts, proposes or makes a general assignment
or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of the relevant creditors in respect of any of
such debts or a moratorium is agreed or declared in respect of or affecting all or any part of (or of a
particular type of) the debts of the Issuer or any of Subsidiaries, in each case other than for the purposes
of, or pursuant to, a Permitted Reorganisation; or

(g)

Winding-up: an order is made or an effective resolution passed for the winding-up or dissolution of the
Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, or the Issuer ceases or threatens to cease to carry on all or substantially
all of its business or operations, except for the purposes or pursuant to a Permitted Reorganisation; or

(h)

Authorisation and Consents: any action, condition or thing (including the obtaining or effecting of any
necessary consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, filing, licence, order, recording or registration)
at any time required to be taken, fulfilled or done in order (i) to enable the Issuer lawfully to enter into,
exercise its rights and perform and comply with its obligations under the Bonds, (ii) to ensure that those
obligations are legally binding and enforceable and (iii) to make the Bonds admissible in evidence in the
courts of the Republic of Italy is not taken, fulfilled or done; or

(i)

Illegality: it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any one or more of its
obligations under any of the Bonds; or

(j)

Analogous Events: any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction has an analogous
effect to any of the events referred to in any of the foregoing paragraphs of this Condition 8,

then any Bond may, by notice in writing given to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office by the holder, be
declared immediately due and payable whereupon it shall become immediately due and payable at its principal
amount together with accrued interest without further formality unless such event of default shall have been
remedied prior to the receipt of such notice by the Fiscal Agent.
In these Conditions, “Permitted Reorganisation” means either:
(i)

any solvent amalgamation, merger, demerger or reconstruction involving the Issuer or any Subsidiary
(each a “Reorganisation”) (A) under which the assets and liabilities of the Issuer or the relevant
Subsidiary are assumed by the entity resulting from such amalgamation, merger, demerger or
reconstruction and, where the same involves the Issuer, such entity assumes all of the obligations of the
Issuer in respect of the Bonds, and (B) that does not result in a Rating Downgrade; or

(ii)

any Reorganisation that has been approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Fiscal
Agency Agreement) of the Bondholders.

A “Rating Downgrade” will be deemed to have occurred if, at the time of the Reorganisation, either:
(i)

the Bonds carry from any rating agency a credit rating and, as a result of such Reorganisation, such credit
rating is within 180 days of the occurrence of the Reorganisation either downgraded or withdrawn and
is not within such 180-day period subsequently (in the case of a downgrade) restored to its previous

- 18 -

rating by such rating agency or (in the case of a withdrawal) replaced by an equivalent credit rating by
another rating agency; or
(ii)

9

the Bonds carry no credit rating, and no rating agency assigns within 180 days of the occurrence of the
Reorganisation an investment grade credit rating to the Bonds.

Prescription
Claims in respect of principal and interest will become void unless presentation for payment is made as required
by Condition 6 within a period of 10 years in the case of principal and five years in the case of interest from the
appropriate Relevant Date.

10

Replacement of Bonds and Coupons
If any Bond or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the specified office
of the Fiscal Agent subject to all applicable laws and stock exchange or other relevant authority requirements,
upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with such replacement and on such terms
as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may require (provided that the requirement is
reasonable in the light of prevailing market practice). Mutilated or defaced Bonds or Coupons must be
surrendered before replacements will be issued.

11

Meetings of Bondholders, Modification and Substitution
(a)

Meetings of Bondholders: The Fiscal Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings
of Bondholders to consider any matter affecting their interests relating to the Bonds, including the
modification of any provision of the Bonds or these Conditions. Any such modification may be made if
sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution, which shall mean a resolution passed by the majority
required pursuant to Condition 11(a)(iii) at a meeting of the Bondholders duly convened and held in
accordance with the provisions of the Fiscal Agency Agreement, Italian applicable laws and regulations
and the Issuer’s by-laws (an “Extraordinary Resolution”), and any Extraordinary Resolution duly
passed at any such meeting shall be binding on all the Bondholders, whether present or not.
In relation to the convening of meetings, quorums and the majorities required to pass an Extraordinary
Resolution:
(i)

a meeting may be convened by the Issuer or any Bondholders’ Representative (rappresentante
comune) appointed pursuant to Articles 2415 and 2417 of the Italian Civil Code and shall be
convened by either of them at their discretion or upon the request of Bondholders holding not
less than one-twentieth of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Bonds;

(ii)

a meeting of Bondholders will be validly held if (i) on first call, there are one or more persons
present, being or representing Bondholders holding at least one-half of the aggregate principal
amount of the outstanding Bonds, or (ii) in the case of a second meeting following adjournment
of the first meeting for want of quorum, there are one or more persons present, being or
representing Bondholders holding more than one-third of the aggregate principal amount of the
outstanding Bonds, or (iii) in the case of any subsequent meeting following a further adjournment
for want of quorum or, to the extent provided for by the Issuer’s bylaws, in case of single call,
there are one or more persons, present being or representing Bondholders holding at least onefifth of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Bonds provided, however, that the
quorum shall always be at least one-half of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding
Bonds for the purposes of considering a Reserved Matter and provided further that in each of the
above cases the by-laws of the Issuer may from time to time require a higher quorum at any of
the above meetings;
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(iii)

the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution (including at any meeting convened
following adjournment of the previous meeting for want of quorum) shall be (i) for all matters
other than Reserved Matters, one or more persons present, being or representing Bondholders
holding at least two-thirds of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds represented at the
meeting, or (ii) for Reserved Matters, one or more persons present, being or representing
Bondholders holding at least one half of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Bonds;
provided, however, that in each of the above cases the by-laws of the Issuer may from time to
time require a larger majority.

In accordance with the Italian Civil Code, a “rappresentante comune” may be appointed, inter alia, in
order to represent the Bondholders hereunder. The “rappresentante comune” shall have the powers and
duties set out in Article 2418 of the Italian Civil Code. The “rappresentante comune” may be appointed
under Article 2415 of the Italian Civil Code by resolution passed at the Bondholders’ meeting. In the
event the Bondholders’ meeting fails to appoint the “rappresentante comune”, the appointment will be
made by the president of the court of first instance of the venue where the registered office of the Issuer
is located at the request of any Bondholder or at the request of the board of directors of the Issuer in
accordance with Article 2415 of the Italian Civil Code.
(b)

Modification of Fiscal Agency Agreement: The Issuer shall only permit any modification of, or any
waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of or any failure to comply with, the Fiscal
Agency Agreement, if to do so could not reasonably be expected to be prejudicial to the interests of the
Bondholders.

(c)

Substitution: The Issuer, or any previous substituted company, may at any time, without the consent of
the Bondholders or the Couponholders, substitute for itself as principal debtor under the Bonds and the
Coupons such company (the “Substitute”) as is specified in the Fiscal Agency Agreement, provided that
no payment in respect of the Bonds or the Coupons is at the relevant time overdue. The substitution shall
be made by a deed poll (the “Deed Poll”), to be substantially in the form exhibited to the Fiscal Agency
Agreement, and may take place only if (i) the Substitute shall, by means of the Deed Poll, agree to
indemnify each Bondholder and Couponholder against any tax, duty, assessment or governmental charge
which is imposed on it by (or by any authority in or of) the jurisdiction of the country of the Substitute’s
residence for tax purposes and, if different, of its incorporation with respect to any Bond or Coupon and
which would not have been so imposed had the substitution not been made, as well as against any tax,
duty, assessment or governmental charge, and any cost or expense, relating to the substitution, (ii) the
obligations of the Substitute under the Deed Poll, the Bonds and the Coupons shall be unconditionally
guaranteed by the Issuer by means of the Deed Poll, (iii) all action, conditions and things required to be
taken, fulfilled and done (including the obtaining of any necessary consents) to ensure that the Deed
Poll, the Bonds and Coupons represent valid, legally binding and enforceable obligations of the
Substitute and in the case of the Deed Poll of the Issuer have been taken, fulfilled and done and are in
full force and effect, (iv) the Substitute shall have become party to the Fiscal Agency Agreement, with
any appropriate consequential amendments, as if it had been an original party to it, (v) legal opinions
addressed to the Bondholders shall have been delivered to them (care of the Fiscal Agent) from a lawyer
or firm of lawyers with a leading securities practice in each jurisdiction referred to in (i) above and in
England as to the fulfilment of the preceding conditions of this Condition 11(c) and the other matters
specified in the Deed Poll and (vi) the Issuer shall have given at least 14 days’ prior notice of such
substitution to the Bondholders, stating that copies, or pending execution the agreed text, of all
documents in relation to the substitution which are referred to above, or which might otherwise
reasonably be regarded as material to Bondholders, will be available for inspection at the specified office
of each of the Paying Agents. References in Condition 8 to obligations under the Bonds shall be deemed
to include obligations under the Deed Poll, and, where the Deed Poll contains a guarantee, the events
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listed in Condition 8 shall be deemed to include that guarantee not being (or being claimed by the
guarantor not to be) in full force and effect and the provisions of Conditions 8(c) - 8(j) inclusive shall be
deemed to apply in addition to the guarantor.
12

Further Issues
The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Bondholders or Couponholders create and issue
further securities either having the same terms and conditions as the Bonds in all respects (or in all respects
except for the first payment of interest on them) and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a
single series with the Bonds or upon such terms as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue. References
in these Conditions to the Bonds include (unless the context requires otherwise) any other securities issued
pursuant to this Condition and forming a single series with the Bonds. The consolidation of any Bonds into a
series of previously issued Bonds with the same Common Code or ISIN can occur only upon (i) exchange of
interests in a Temporary Global Note for interests in a Permanent Global Note and (ii) certification of non-U.S.
beneficial ownership in accordance with TEFRA D.
For the purposes of this Condition 12 (Further Issues), “TEFRA D” means rules in substantially the same form
as U.S. Treasury Regulations Section 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) for purposes of Section 4701 of the U.S. Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

13

Notices
For so long as the Bonds are listed on the Official List of the Irish Stock Exchange, trading as Euronext Dublin
(“Euronext Dublin”) and admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of Euronext Dublin, and it is required
by applicable laws or regulations, all notices to Bondholders will be valid if published on the website of
Euronext Dublin. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in a manner which complies with
the rules and regulations of any stock exchange, trading platform or other relevant authority on which the Bonds
are for the time being listed. If the Bonds are held in certificated form in a clearing system, all notices to the
Bondholders will be valid if given through the clearing system in accordance with its standard rules and
procedures. Couponholders will be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given
to the Bondholders in accordance with this Condition 13 (Notices).

14

Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999
No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Bonds under the Contracts (Rights of
Third Parties) Act 1999.

15

Governing Law
(a)

Governing Law: The Fiscal Agency Agreement, the Bonds and the Coupons and any non-contractual
obligations arising out of or in connection with them are governed by and shall be construed in
accordance with English law. Condition 11 and the provisions of Schedule 4 of the Fiscal Agency
Agreement which relate to the convening of meeting of a Bondholders and the appointment of a
Bondholders’ representative are subject to compliance with Italian law.

(b)

Jurisdiction:
(i)

Subject to Condition 15(b)(iii) below, The courts of England are to have exclusive jurisdiction to
settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Bonds or the Coupons and
accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Bonds or the
Coupons, including any dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations (“Proceedings”) may
be brought in such courts.
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(ii)

The Issuer irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts and waives any objection to
Proceedings in such courts whether on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings
have been brought in an inconvenient forum.

(iii) To the extent allowed by law, the Bondholders and the Couponholders may take Proceedings in
any other court with jurisdiction and concurrent Proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.
(c)

Agent for Service of Process: The Issuer appoints Law Debenture Corporate Services Limited (“Law
Debenture”) at Fifth Floor, 100 Wood Street, London EC2V 7EX, United Kingdom as its agent in
England to receive service of process in any Proceedings in England based on any of the Bonds or the
Coupons. If for any reason the Issuer does not have such an agent in England, it will promptly appoint a
substitute process agent and notify the Bondholders of such appointment. Nothing herein shall affect the
right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.
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Summary of Provisions relating to the Bonds while in Global Form
The Fiscal Agency Agreement, the Temporary Global Bond and the Global Bond contain provisions which apply
to the Bonds while they are in global form, some of which modify the effect of the terms and conditions of the
Bonds set out in this document. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:
1

Nominal Amount and Exchange
The Bonds will be issued in new global note (“NGN”) form. On 13 June 2006, the European Central Bank (the
“ECB”) announced that Bonds in NGN form are in compliance with the “Standards for the use of EU securities
settlement systems in ECB credit operations” of the central banking system for the euro (the “Eurosystem”),
provided that certain other criteria are fulfilled. At the same time the ECB also announced that arrangements
for Bonds in NGN form will be offered by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as of 30 June 2006 and that
debt securities in global bearer form issued through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg after 31 December
2006 will only be eligible as collateral for Eurosystem operations if the NGN form is used.
The Bonds are intended to be held in a manner which would allow Eurosystem eligibility - that is, in a manner
which would allow the Bonds to be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intraday credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such
recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria.
The nominal amount of the Bonds shall be the aggregate amount from time to time entered in the records of
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any permitted alternative clearing system (the “Alternative
Clearing System”) (each, a “relevant Clearing System”). The records of such relevant Clearing System shall
be conclusive evidence of the nominal amount of Bonds represented by the Temporary Global Bond and the
Permanent Global Bond and a statement issued by such relevant Clearing System at any time shall be conclusive
evidence of the records of that relevant Clearing System at that time.
The Temporary Global Bond is exchangeable in whole or in part for interests recorded in the records of the
relevant Clearing Systems in the Global Bond on or after a date which is expected to be 21 January 2020, upon
certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form set out in the Temporary Global Bond. The Global
Bond is exchangeable in whole but not, except as provided in the next paragraph, in part (free of charge to the
holder) for the definitive Bonds described below (i) if the Global Bond is held on behalf of a relevant Clearing
System and such relevant Clearing System is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than
by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does
in fact do so or (ii) if principal in respect of any Bonds is not paid when due and payable. Thereupon, the holder
may give notice to the Fiscal Agent of its intention to exchange the Global Bond for definitive Bonds on or after
the Exchange Date specified in the notice.
If principal in respect of any Bonds is not paid when due and payable the holder of the Global Bond may, by
notice to the Fiscal Agent (which may but need not be the default notice referred to in “—Default” below),
require the exchange of a specified principal amount of the Global Bond (which may be equal to or (provided
that, if the Global Bond is held by or on behalf of a clearing system, that clearing system agrees) less than the
outstanding principal amount of Bonds represented thereby) for definitive Bonds on or after the Exchange Date
(as defined below) specified in such notice.
On or after any Exchange Date, the holder of the Global Bond may surrender the Global Bond or, in the case
of a partial exchange, present it for endorsement to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent. In exchange for the
Global Bond, or on endorsement in respect of the part thereof to be exchanged, the Issuer shall deliver, or
procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate principal amount of duly executed and authenticated definitive
Bonds (having attached to them all Coupons in respect of interest which has not already been paid on the Global
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Bond), security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange requirements and in or
substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 to the Fiscal Agency Agreement. On exchange in full of the
Global Bond, the Issuer will, if the holder so requests, procure that it is cancelled and returned to the holder
together with any relevant definitive Bonds.
“Exchange Date” means a day falling not less than 60 days or, in the case of exchange pursuant to (ii) above,
30 days, after that on which the notice requiring exchange is given and on which banks are open for business
in the city in which the specified office of the Fiscal Agent is located and, except in the case of exchange
pursuant to (i) above, in the cities in which the relevant clearing system is located.
2

Payments
No payment will be made on the Temporary Global Bond unless exchange for an interest in the Global Bond is
improperly withheld or refused. Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bonds represented by the
Global Bond will be made to its holder. The Issuer shall procure that details of each such payment shall be
entered pro rata in the records of the relevant Clearing System and, in the case of payments of principal, the
nominal amount of the Bonds will be reduced accordingly. Each payment so made will discharge the Issuer’s
obligations in respect thereof. Any failure to make the entries in the records of the relevant Clearing System
shall not affect such discharge. For the purpose of any payments made in respect of a Global Bond, Condition
6(d) (Payments on business days) shall not apply, and all such payments shall be made on a day on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open in the financial centre of the currency of the Bonds.

3

Notices
So long as the Bonds are listed on the Regulated Market, notices to Bondholders shall be valid if published on
the website of Euronext Dublin.

4

Prescription
Claims against the Issuer in respect of principal and interest on the Bonds while the Bonds are represented by
the Global Bond will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of 10 years (in the case of
principal) and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in Condition
6).

5

Meetings
The holder of the Global Bond shall (unless the Global Bond represents only one Bond) be treated as being two
persons for the purposes of any quorum requirements of, or the right to demand a poll at, a meeting of
Bondholders and, at any such meeting, as having one vote in respect of each €1,000 in principal amount of
Bonds.

6

Purchase and Cancellation
On cancellation of any Bond required by the Conditions to be cancelled following its purchase, the Issuer shall
procure that details of such cancellation shall be entered pro rata in the records of the relevant Clearing Systems
and, upon any such entry being made, the nominal amount of the Bonds recorded in the records of the relevant
Clearing Systems and represented by this Global Bond shall be reduced by the aggregate nominal amount of
the Bonds so cancelled.

7

Default
The Global Bond provides that the holder may cause the Global Bond or a portion of it to become due and
payable in the circumstances described in Condition 8 by stating in the notice to the Fiscal Agent the principal
amount of Bonds which is being declared due and payable. If principal in respect of any Bond is not paid when
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due and payable, the holder of the Global Bond may elect that the Global Bond becomes void as to a specified
portion and that the persons entitled to such portion, as accountholders with a clearing system, acquire direct
enforcement rights against the Issuer under further provisions of the Global Bond executed by the Issuer as a
deed poll.
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Description of the Issuer
Overview
Azimut Holding S.p.A. (“Azimut” or the “Company” or the “Issuer”) is one of Italy’s largest independent asset
managers2 with approximately €50.8 billion of total assets under management, including assets under custody, as of
31 December 2018 and €57.4 billion as of 30 September 2019. The Issuer is the holding company of a group of 88
companies (the “Group”), operating in the promotion, management and distribution of financial products in the asset
management business, insurance financial products in the life assurance business as well as private markets products
(the “Private Markets” segment). The Group operates in 17 countries and has registered offices mainly in Italy,
Luxembourg, Ireland, China (Hong Kong and Shanghai), Monaco, Switzerland, Taiwan, Brazil, Egypt, Singapore,
Mexico, Australia, Chile, USA, UAE and Turkey.
The Group’s main business is asset management, in particular the planning, realisation and organisation of
management assets such as (i) investment mutual funds, including alternative mutual funds; (ii) investment services,
such as traditional and private portfolio management, in particular for affluent and high net worth individuals; (iii)
unit-linked financial insurance products and (iv) pension funds.
Within the Italian territory, the Group distributes and sells products mainly through a network of financial advisors
who are concentrated primarily in Northern and Central Italy. Outside of Italy, the Group operates both through
networks of financial advisors, as well as relying on third party distributors such as banks, depending on the market
itself. As of 30 September 2019, the Group’s distribution network in Italy comprised 1798 financial advisors
marketing the entire range of the Group’s products. In addition, to a lesser extent, the Group’s products are distributed
through local branches of medium-sized or smaller Italian banks, through strategic partnerships with select banks
and selected trust companies.
The Group’s consolidated gross revenues for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to €748.5 million,
compared to €810.5 million in the financial year ended 31 December 2017. As of 31 December 2018, total assets
under management amounted to € 39.8 billion, a decrease of approximately -1% compared to 2017. As of 31
December 2018, total assets, including assets under administration, amounted to € 50.8 billion, a 1% increase
compared to the prior year.
The table below sets forth the Group’s total assets under management for the years ended 31 December 2017 and
2018.
Year Ended 31 December
2017
Mutual Funds .................................................................................
Discretionary portfolio management and other ..............................
AZ Life insurance ..........................................................................
Advisory
Double counting .............................................................................
Total AuM, net ...............................................................................
Securities, third party funds and A/C .............................................
Total assets .....................................................................................

2

Source: Management compilation based on internal data.
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2018

(in euro millions)
31,716.8
30,662.3
9,454.2
10,089.9
6,702.2
5,677.9
1,119.1
1,507.3
-8,803.2
40,189.2
10,252.3
50,441.5

-8,154.1
39,783.4
10,989.1
50,772.5

The tables below sets forth the Group’s consolidated reclassified income statements and balance sheets for the six
months ended 30 June 2019 and 2018 and for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
1H 2019

€mm
Acquisition fees

1H 2018

2018 FY

2017FY

2.6

3.2

5.4

10.2

357.8

313.8

629.2

606.6

86.8

30.3

56.5

136.4

6.2

4.3

8.5

8.5

32.5

24.0

48.8

48.9

485.9

375.7

748.5

810.5

(185.7)

(168.9)

(336.2)

(337.5)

(99.6)

(100.4)

(203.6)

(178.5)

(9.2)

(7.6)

(15.8)

(16.5)

(294.4)

(276.9)

(555.6)

(532.5)

191.5

98.8

192.9

278.1

Net financial income

11.8

(23.3)

(13.1)

Net non-recurring costs

(4.4)

(2.9)
(1.0)

Interest expenses

(5.0)

(6.3)
(7.4)

(8.1)
(9.6)

Profit before tax

193.9

91.3

155.9

247.3

Income tax

(17.0)

(14.3)

(24.8)

(22.9)

Deferred tax

1.3
178.2

6.6
83.6

9.5
140.6

1.5
225.9

7.1

11.0

18.4

171.0

72.6

122.1

Fixed management fees
Variable management fees
Other income
Insurance income
Total income
Acquisition costs
Overheads / Administrative costs
Amortisation/depreciation and provisions
Total costs
EBIT

Net profit
Profit attributable to minority interest
Group Net Profit

30 June
2019

(3.7)

30 June
2018

€mm
Amounts due to banks:
Senior Loan
Securities issued:
Azimut 17-22 senior bond 2.0%
TOTAL DEBT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
NET FINANCIAL POSITION

31
December
2017
(10,000)

(198,274)

(10,000)

(350,858)

(350,440)

(354,166)

(353,816)

(350,858)

(350,440)

(354,166)

(353,816)

(549,132)

(350,440)

(354,166)

(363,816)

474,396

293,429

323,113

498,687

(74,736)

(57,011)

(31,053)

134,871

(123,054)
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214.8

(198,274)

(48,318)

Lease Liabilities IFRS16 adoption
NET FINANCIAL POSITION (including IFRS16
impact)

31
December
2018

11.1

30 June
2019

€mm
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and
loss
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

30 June
2018

31
December
2018

31
December
2017

6,111,001

6,463,106

5,848,778

6,984,302

8,104

3,174

4,974

2,938

Financial assets at amortised cost and equity investments

289,891

174,184

220,578

265,133

Tangible and intangible assets

690,173

591,084

610,817

565,513

Other assets

405,990

372,720

400,730

288,721

Total assets

7,505,159

7,604,268

7,085,877

8,106,607

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

602,554

357,388

371,711

374,069

Technical reserves

184,689

202,236

177,068

227,857

5,758,337

6,150,274

5,582,010

6,605,461

Other liabilities and provisions

360,155

314,866

330,631

287,032

Shareholders’ equity

599,424

579,504

624,457

612,188

7,505,159

7,604,268

7,085,877

8,106,607

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The following chart shows the Group’s client segmentation based on assets under management (“AuM”) volumes
as of 30 September 2019.

Smaller
Wealth
0.7%

HNWI
59.4%

Medium
Wealth
15.2%

Affluent
24.7%

Smaller Wealth: below € 12,500
Medium Wealth: from € 12,500 to € 125,000
Affluent: from € 125,000 to € 500,000
High Net Worth Individuals: above € 500,000

________
Source: Issuer’s Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Report as of 30 September 2019.

Strengths
The Group believes that its competitive strengths are as follows:
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The Group is one of the leading Italian independent asset managers by assets under management in Italy3
with approximately €50.8 billion of total assets as of 31 December 2018 and €57.4 billion as of 30
September 2019;



The Group has a business model based on the full integration between portfolio management and
distribution. The Group, as of 30 September 2019, employs approximately 95 investment professionals
based around the world and has a proprietary network of 1798 financial advisors in Italy, as well as a global
salesforce worldwide, working exclusively for the Azimut brand;



The Group’s international network of partners provides local services in 17 countries around the world
representing almost 30% of total assets;



The Group focuses mainly on the affluent and high net worth segment which represented approximately
90% of the Group’s AuM as of 30 September 2019;



The Group offers its products to maintain its existing client base and attract new customers. New products
launched by the Group since 2012 account for over 30% of total assets under management and since 2008
was in excess of 60%;



The Group has an operational independence and shareholding structure reflected by the shareholding of its
financial advisors, managers and employees in the Group through a shareholders’ agreement covering
approximately 25% of the share capital which binds over 1900 individual shareholders as well as Peninsula
Capital in a voting-block, including employees, financial partners, portfolio managers and management.
See “Business description–Principal shareholders and corporate governance”;



The Group has a streamlined business model and efficient organisational structure, aimed at identifying
customer needs with an effective time to market of new products;



The Group is also present in the Private Markets segment, offering solutions for entrepreneurs through
strategic products such as private equity, private debt, venture capital, SPAC and start-up; and



Starting from 1 January 2020, the Group’s P&L will be based mostly on recurring fees and hence the
Group’s profitability will be much more linked to asset growth rather than volatility on the markets.

Strategy
The Group aims to strengthen its position as a leading independent asset manager 4 through the following strategies:

3
4



continuing to grow in its home market by attracting the best talent, both on the financial advisor and portfolio
management sides of the business;



continuing to pursue an international growth strategy by establishing partnerships with local operators and
acquiring majority investments in asset management and/or advisory companies and distribution companies
where it plans to reach at least 35% of total AuM by 2024;



continuing to focus on product innovation while leveraging on the integration between asset management
and distribution;



continuing to grow in the Private Markets segment where it plans to reach at least 15% of total assets by
2024; and



continuing to work to achieve its final target as set forth in the 2015-2019 business plan, announced to the
market by the Company at the end of 2014, which has not been updated or restated by the Company since

Source: Management compilation based on internal data.
Source: Management compilation based on internal data.
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2014, including a guidance of € 300 million Net Income by 31st December 2019. A new Business Plan will
be released within the next 9 months including new 5-year strategic targets and guidelines.
History and Recent Developments of the Issuer
History
The Company’s activity began in 1988 with Akros Finanziaria S.p.A., a company operating in finance and real estate
operations in Italy, but the renovation of the Company’s structure started in 1990 after Pietro Giuliani joined the
Group. In November 1998, Azimut was acquired by Bipop-Carire S.p.A., a leading Italian bank, and subsequently,
in 1999 merged into Azimut Holding S.p.A. In 2001, the Company underwent a management buy-out together with
Apax Partners. Upon completion of the management buy-out in June 2002, Apax Partners held a 65% stake and the
management and financial promoters held a 35% stake in the share capital of Azimut Holding.
On 7 July 2004, Azimut was listed on the Milan Stock Exchange (ticker AZM.IM) (the “2004 IPO”) and was
included in the FTSE MIB index in 2010.
As shown in the tables below, since the 2004 IPO, the Group has grown in terms of AuM, number of clients and
number of financial advisors:

The main developments of the Group since the 2004 IPO are summarised in the table below.

On 19 March 2015, the board of directors of Azimut approved the launch of the Group’s reorganisation process
aimed at streamlining the company structure, taking advantage of the new regulatory possibilities offered by the most
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recent EU and national changes transforming the Group’s distribution companies into asset management companies
(the “Group Reorganisation”).
Following the Group Reorganisation, and as a result of new European and Italian directives regarding alternative
investment funds (“AIF”) and undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities (“UCITS”), and the
Financial Conglomerates Directive (FICOD), the Capital Requirements Regulation and Directive CRD IV no longer
applies to the Group, thus aligning the Group with other international players. Regulatory capital will be calculated
only on an individual basis at the level of the asset management and insurance company, with the consequent release
of a significant portion of regulatory capital which will become fully available. For further information on the
applicable regulatory framework, see “Legislative and Regulatory Framework”
Recent Developments
The Group recently embarked in a new project aimed at growing in the Private Markets segment and investing in the
real economy. Thanks to the launch of new funds dedicated to real assets, Azimut’s private investors clients will be
able to benefit from the opportunities offered in the private equity, venture capital and private debt space.
Azimut’s new strategic platform aims to provide customers an access to higher returns, in a context of extremely low
rates that has led to major outflows for the industry towards cash. At the same time, investments in the real economy
have offered higher returns compared to investments in listed companies: private equity, venture capital and private
debt have generated annual returns of around 12.5%5 over the last 10 years, compared to an average of 7.5 % 6 of the
public market. Furthermore, investments in Private Markets are an important factor in differentiating the client’s
portfolio, as they are not related to the dynamics of financial markets.
Within this context, Azimut is launching through Azimut Libera Impresa SGR S.p.A. an integrated platform of
products and services dedicated to entrepreneurs and SMEs as well as investors and savers. The aim of the initiative
is to favor investments in the real economy, stimulating growth and making it sustainable over time, while offering
greater returns to investors.
The Azimut Libera Impresa platform includes eight funds, some of which are in launch phase and others that will be
launched over the next few months, for a total of 1.5 billion euros by the end of 2020. The Private Markets segment
represents for Azimut a key strategic growth opportunity in the next few years: today they represent only 1% of the
Group’s total assets, yet the target is to reach at least 15% by 2024.
Lastly, the private equity fund Azimut Demos 1 is the first retail closed-end private equity fund in the world, with a
minimum subscription amount of 5 thousand euros. It has a target of 350 million euros in AuM to be invested in
Italian SMEs, with a turnover between 30 and 250 million euros and an average ticket size of 20 to 60 million euros.
In January 2019, the Group submitted to the Luxembourg supervisory authority a new methodology for the
calculation of performance fees on Luxembourg funds, which will result in a significant reduction in the weight of
variable fees over revenues and especially Profits.
The new methodology will be based on an annual benchmark calculation plus a spread linked to product categories,
in line with IOSCO principles. The impacted on the Group’s P&L will be significant, with Recurring Fee expected
to make up ca. 90% of Total Revenues (from 80% today) and ca. 80% of Net Profit (from ca. 35% today). Finally,
from 1 January 2020, variable fees will represent a minority of Net Profit and Cash Flow generated by the Group,
following a recent change in the fee mechanism adopted by the Company.
For further information, see “Recent Developments”.

5
6

Source: KPMG (in cooperation with AIFI), Sustainable Returns, Italian Private Equity and Venture Capital Market: 2017 performance.
Source: Management compilation based on Bloomberg and internal data.
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Group Structure
The Issuer is the holding company of the Group. The following chart shows the Group’s corporate structure as of the
date of this Prospectus.

(1): Controls distribution companies M&O Consultoria, FuturaInvest and Azimut Brasil Wealth Management.
(2): Controls AZ Sinopro Insurance Planning.
(3): Controls 100% of CGM Italia SGR S.p.A..
(4): 30% is owned by Azimut Capital Management and 19% by Azimut Financial Insurance, both fully owned by Azimut
Holding.
(5): controls SDB Financial Solutions.
(6): Showing only subsidiaries with a majority ownership.
* Eskatos CM is currently under liquidation procedure.

Products and Services
The Group’s business model is characterised by the integration of management and distribution activities. The
Group’s distribution network allows management teams to react to market changes, while the Company believes that
the track record of management provides the distribution network with increased market penetration.
Asset Management
The Group operates in the asset management business mainly through the distribution and management of
harmonised mutual funds under Italian and Luxembourg law as well as through the management of alternative mutual
funds under Italian and Luxembourg law.
The management of harmonised and alternative mutual-funds is carried out by: (i) Azimut Capital Management SGR
S.p.A., which also manages individual portfolios and distributes mutual funds belonging to Azimut Group and third
parties as well, (ii) Azimut Libera Impresa SGR S.p.A., which focuses exclusively on alternative mutual funds, (iii)
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CGM Italia SGR S.p.A. active both in individual portfolio management and in management of a mutual fund, and
(iv) AZ Fund Management S.A. (“AZF”) with respect to Luxembourg funds (both harmonised and alternative funds).
In addition, since 11 March 2004, the Group offers a complete range of life insurance products in Italy via the Irish
life insurance company AZ Life DAC, a company belonging to the Azimut Group.
The Group also conducts advisory activities through Azimut Capital Management SGR S.p.A. and CGM and
activities of reception and transmission of orders.
In particular, the Group establishes, promotes, manages and distributes the following asset management products and
services:
 harmonised mutual funds belonging to both the Azimut Group and third parties funds;
 alternative investment funds;
 financial insurance products;
 individual portfolio management; and
 pension funds.
As of 30 September 2019, the assets under management of the Group broken down by type were as follows:
in € millions

Assets as of 30 September 2019

Mutual funds

33,915.1

Portfolio management

11,662.7

Unit Linked AZ Life

5,974.3

Advisory

2,054.9

Total net asset under management*
Administrative saving and bank account

44,561.2

Total AuM

57,444.8

12,883.5

*Net of double counting.
Source: Issuer’s Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Report as of 30 September 2019

Harmonised mutual funds
The distribution and management of open-end mutual investment funds (fondi comuni di investimento mobiliare di
tipo aperto), regulated by both Italian and Luxembourg law, constitute the majority of the net income of the Group.
Each mutual fund has autonomous assets, separated from those of the related management company and from those
of the other funds managed by it, divided into minority interests of a plurality of participants and managed in
aggregate. Open-end funds do not have any restrictions on the amount of units each fund can issue, and allow
investments in and disinvestments from the fund at any time. Such funds can be accumulation funds (fondi ad
accumulazione) or distribution funds (fondi a distribuzione) depending on whether the profits of the management are
reinvested in the fund or distributed to the participants.
The Group originally had a focus on funds managed with a flexible approach which represented the bulk of the assets
under management in the harmonised mutual funds of the Group. Since 1993, the year the Group launched Azimut
Trend, the first Azimut flexible fund, the Group has expanded its funds range, progressively covering all main
regions, asset classes and investment styles. The Group currently offers a broad range of funds and compartments
through Azimut Capital Management SGR S.p.A., a company regulated by Italian law, as well as by AZ Fund
Management SA, a company incorporated in Luxembourg.
Azimut Capital Management SGR S.p.A. currently manages 17 funds, 10 of which are flexible.
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In Luxembourg, AZF manages three umbrella funds AZ Fund 1, AZ Multi Asset and AZ Fund 3 which are composed
by more than one hundred compartments, differentiated by investment policy, strategy, risk-return profile, fee
structures and distribution policy. In particular, the AZF currently offers several equities funds with focus on both
developed and emerging markets, fixed income funds, target maturity funds, flexible funds, multimanager funds,
ESG funds, funds managed following alternative strategies and funds investing in niche asset class like Sukuk, Cat
Bond and Hybrid Bonds. AZF also manages two alternative investment funds regulated by Luxembourg law (see
below).
AZ Fund Management SA distributes AZ Fund 1 and AZ Multi Asset in Switzerland. In addition, some segments of
AZ Fund 1 and AZ Multi Asset are currently distributed in other European countries (e.g. Austria, France, Germany
and Spain) and outside Europe (e.g. Chile, Peru, Singapore).
Alternative Investment Funds
Alternative investment funds are investment undertakings that fall within the scope of Directive 2011/61/EU.
Alternative investment funds are characterised by a broader management discretion than traditional harmonised
funds, given also the derogation from the prohibitions and the limitations related to risk mitigation and concentration
and other prudential rules by the competent supervisory authorities applicable to ordinary funds. As a result,
alternative investment funds are intended for investors who are aware of the specific risks associated with such
investments, and the relevant national legislations have defined specific minimum access levels for the investment,
by type of investor, and special placement methods.
Azimut Capital Management SGR S.p.A. is one of the very few Italian financial operators to manage a so-called
single manager or “pure” fund characterised by direct investment in financial instruments, while Italian alternative
investment funds have historically focused on hedge fund of funds. In particular, Azimut Capital Management SGR
S.p.A. offers Aliseo, an alternative investment fund characterised by long/short equity investment strategies.
Moreover Azimut Capital Management SGR S.p.A. has recently established “Azimut Private Debt” one of the first
alternative Italian closed end fund distributed to retail investors, focusing on investment in private debt securities.
In addition, through the funds of Azimut Libera Impresa SGR S.p.A. (“Azimut Libera Impresa”), the Group invests
in small and medium-sized Italian businesses with strong business plans to promote growth through capital injections
and networking and managerial skills.
As of the date of this Prospectus, Azimut Libera Impresa has established the following alternative close-end
investment funds. In particular:


the reserved fund “Finanza e Sviluppo Impresa”, focused on the investment in small and medium-sized
Italian enterprises through the acquisition of minority interests and providing financial support;



the reserved private debt fund “Antares AZ I” which invests in a wide range of debt instruments issued by
small and medium-sized Italian enterprises, with the aim of supporting and developing their business;



the reserved fund “IPO CLUB” focusing on investment in the so called pre-booking companies;



the reserved fund “Azimut Corporate Cash” which invests in debt instruments with a short duration issued
by small and medium-sized Italian enterprises, with the aim of supporting and developing their business;
and



the reserved fund “GlobALInvest” which invests in undertakings for collective investment, including
collective private equity and debt investment funds (UCIs), established both in EU and non-EU countries.

All these funds represent important alternative instruments for the financing and development of Italian
entrepreneurs.
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Moreover, as of the date of this Prospectus the alternative not reserved fund “Azimut Demos 1” is gathering
commitments. This Fund is completely new in the Italian market since it gives the possibility to retail investors to
invest into an alternative closed ended find with a minimum subscription amount of Euro 5,000. The fund will invest
in small and medium-sized Italian businesses mainly through the acquisition of majority interests.
Azimut Libera Impresa is in the process of launching other closed end funds (both reserved and targeted to retail
investors) investing and supporting “real economy”.
In addition, AZ Fund Management SA manages “AZ Pure China” and “AZ Eskatos” (two specialised investment
funds or “SIFs”), an alternative investment fund regulated by Luxembourg law, the former specialised in the
investment on Chinese stock and debt markets and the latter in Insurance Linked Securities and Cat Bonds.
AZ Life financial insurance products
AZ Life is a specialist insurance company, registered in Ireland, authorised by the Irish Financial Services Regulatory
Authority to conduct life insurance operations in Ireland and by the Italian insurance regulator to market in Italy life
insurance products established and managed by the same Irish insurance company AZ life.
AZ Life specialises in the offering of unit-linked financial insurance products, which are linked to the performance
of the value of the units representing the insurance fund portfolio. The offering includes traditional and private
insurance products. As of the date of this Prospectus, the Group offers four unit-linked insurance policies, one of
which is a traditional unit-linked insurance policy named, “AZ Galaxy” and three private insurance policies
characterised by higher subscription amounts intended for clients with a larger amount of assets. These unit-linked
policies are managed directly by the Company through the selection of portions of OICRs issued and/or managed by
companies of the Group, OICRs of third party management companies or other financial instruments.
Harmonised portfolio Management
The Group manages investment portfolios on behalf of individual customers, in particular high net worth individuals,
and institutional clients through specific dedicated teams with specific management skills and long-standing market
experience.
The activity consists of different types of personalised management based on the clients’ risk-return profiles. The
offering of the Group includes several investment solutions, differentiated in terms of investment strategy (i.e. equity,
fixed income, allocation), investment styles (i.e. directional, total return) and underlying instruments (transferable
securities and UCITs and/or other UCIs managed by the Azimut Group and/or by other AMCs).
Open-end pension fund
Azimut Capital Management SGR S.p.A. manages an open-end defined contribution pension fund named “Azimut
Previdenza”. The pension fund was launched in 2000 to meet customers’ demand for supplementary social security
and also in light of the Italian Legislative Decree of 5 December 2005, no. 252, which allows the participants of
supplementary social security plans to benefit from favourable tax treatment on contributions, returns and services
received. Azimut Previdenza currently offers four compartments based on the risk-return profile, including a
guaranteed compartment.
Azimut Previdenza is managed directly by Azimut Capital Management SGR S.p.A.. With respect to the guaranteed
compartment, Azimut Capital Management SGR S.p.A. uses Intesa Sanpaolo Vita S.p.A., as delegated investment
managers.
Libera Impresa Project
In addition to Azimut Libera Impresa, the Group launched the project “Libera Impresa” to provide support to Italian
entrepreneurs and small and medium-sized Italian enterprises. In connection with this project, the Group has acquired
minority interests in certain vehicles including, but not limited to, (i) the innovative investment vehicle Club Italia
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Investimenti 2, aimed at start-up companies including start-up incubators, (ii) the equity crowdfunding platform
SiamoSoci, which grants access to start-up companies and private assets, and (iii) the venture capital fund P101
which specialises in early-stage investments in the digital field.
Recent Developments
In the past 48 months, the Issuer has continued to rationalize and improve the offering of investment products and
services to increase its market penetration and competitiveness, in particular by continuing to make product
innovation one of its distinctive characteristics.
Among others, the Issuer established the following 10 new compartments within the Luxembourg funds AZ FUND
1 and AZ MULTI ASSET:


two new innovative compartments named “arbitrage” and “arbitrage plus”, which base their investments on
a merger arbitrage strategy traditionally used by alternative investment funds and is generally not accessible
to retail customers;



two new compartments named “AZ Equity – New World Opportunities”, and “AZ Bond – Income
Opportunities”, based on the specific expertise developed over the years in international markets by the
various foreign management companies of the Group;



two compartments named “carry strategies” and “alternative carry opportunities”, which intend to generate
returns by investing in interests of Group funds, based on investment strategies not linked to the performance
of the traditional financial markets;



two new compartment named “sustainable equity trend” and “AZ Equity – Global ESG”, investing directly
or through other investment funds in “sustainable” equity securities;



a new compartment named “AZ Alternative - Smart Risk Premia” with an innovative investment strategy
with the objective to pick-up returns investing in equity style factors neutralizing the sub market effect; and



a new innovative compartment named “ABS” mainly investing into asset-backed securities (“ABS”),
primarily created in Europe.

In addition, the Group is continually implementing the Irish Unit Linked platform broadening the range of proposed
investment solutions. Finally, in January 2016, the Group launched the new Azimut individual portfolio asset
management platform.
Banking and related services
The Group has entered into strategic partnerships with several Italian banks in order to offer a complete range of
banking services, including but not limited to the following:


Banco BPM: the Group currently offers a wide range of services, including current accounts, liquidity
management, home banking, financing solutions, mortgages, credit cards, ATM cards and trading.



UBS: the Group currently offers banking services to private and corporate clients and institutions.



Banca Popolare di Sondrio: the bank currently offers banking services.



Illimity: partnership related to offering digitalized direct banking services.

International Operations
Since the start of operations in 2011, the Group significantly expanded its international presence. As of 31 December
2018, the Group was mainly present in 17 countries and its international activities accounted for 29% of total assets.
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Below is a summary of the principal international operations of the Group:
Turkey
In 2011, Azimut entered the Turkish market through AZ International Holdings S.A. (“AIH”) with the aim of growing
on both the production and distribution sides of the business. In March 2011, Azimut acquired a majority stake in
Global Asset Management (renamed Azimut Portfoy) and in Global Securities, a production company active in the
brokerage and distribution of financial products. In October 2014, Azimut acquired 70% of Notus, a Turkish
independent asset management company. Notus manages discretionary portfolio mandates for individual and
corporate clients ensuring diversified and efficient asset allocation plans across local and international markets. In
January 2015, Azimut reached an agreement to acquire 70% of Bosphorus Capital (later merged into Azimut Portfoy).
Between September and October 2015, Azimut announced the reorganization of its Turkish platform to extract
stronger commercial synergies and operational efficiencies, concentrating its business in Azimut Portfoy. The
commercial and industrial integration within Azimut Portföy created Turkey’s largest independent player with a 5%
market share as of 30 September 2019.
Brazil
On 10 October 2013, Azimut acquired 50% of Legan (later merged into AZ Quest), an asset management company
with an excellent track record. Subsequently, on 13 February 2014, Azimut completed the acquisition of 50% of AZ
FI Holding (later increased to 100% and renamed Azimut Brasil Wealth Management Holding), dealing with
financial services through advisory on asset allocation, funds selection. In February 2015, Azimut completed the
acquisition of a 50% stake in LFI (later increased to 100% and renamed Azimut Brasil WM), focused on asset
management services through funds of funds and managed accounts. In April 2015, Azimut announced the
acquisition of a 60% stake in award-winning Quest Investimentos, managing mostly equity products and employs
one of Brazil’s best-performing fund managers. Currently Brazil is the leading foreign market in terms of AuM size
for Azimut.
Mexico
On 17 June 2014, Azimut through its subsidiary AIH acquired 82.14% of Profie S.A. (renamed AZ Mèxico) a
Mexican holding company controlling the entire equity capital of Más Fondos S.A. (“Más Fondos”), Mexico’s
largest pure independent asset management distribution company. Through this partnership, Azimut and Más Fondos
cooperated to develop an integrated platform centred on a proprietary financial advisors network working in an openarchitecture environment to exploit the growth potential of the Mexican market. In 2015, Azimut increased its stake
in Más Fondos to 96%, reaffirming commitment to build a fully integrated platform. On 2 January 2017, Más Fondos
started fund management operations in Mexico with the launch of two local products and an additional one being
launched in the second half of 2017. The launch of the first two funds allows Más Fondos to continue building an
integrated platform and increase overall profitability. As of 30 June 2019, close to 60% of Más Fondos assets are
managed by the two funds.
China/HK
An Zhong (AZ) Investment Management (“AZIM”) in Hong Kong is the Group’s holding company for China and
Hong Kong. Azimut, through AZIM, oversees two operating subsidiaries. Through the operating subsidiaries Azimut
aims at creating a regional hub and developing local production and distribution of asset management products and
investment advisory services with a focus on qualified investors. In March 2018, AZ Investment Management
(Shanghai) has been granted registration as Private Fund Manager (PFM) by the Asset Management Association of
China (AMAC) – a self-regulatory organization that represents the mutual fund industry of China. Azimut is the first
eurozone based asset manager to have obtained the license, assigned to a limited and selected number of international
asset managers. The license allowed Azimut’s subsidiary to launch, manage and offer onshore three funds to
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institutional and high net worth investors in Mainland China Furthermore. In 2019, AZIM announced a partnership
with Youmy Wealth Management, focused on partnerships with local family offices.
Taipei
On 27 June 2013, AIH and An Ping Investment (later renamed AZ Sinopro Financial Planning), a Taiwanese holding
controlling the entire capital of Sinopro Financial Planning Taiwan Limited (“Sinopro”), signed an investment and
shareholders agreement to start a partnership in the distribution of asset management products in Taiwan. In
particular, Azimut purchased 51% of An Ping Investment’s capital from its existing shareholders. The partnership
increases Azimut presence in the Asian market together with a strong and dedicated financial planning and
distribution partner, which contributes in developing the financial knowledge and will respond to planning and
financial consulting needs of Taiwanese investors. Thanks to this partnership and the master agent license, the Group
is able to distribute UCITS funds on the local market. As of today, the Taiwanese holding company controls both the
financial planning entity as well as a company active in the insurance brokerage business.
Singapore
On 2 October 2013, Azimut and Athenaeum Ltd, a Singapore independent asset management company, have signed
an investment and shareholders agreement to start a partnership in the local market. Azimut initially purchased 55%
of Athenaeum’s corporate capital through a capital increase, which was employed to finance the business plan.
Through this partnership, Azimut and Athenaeum aimed at maximising the potential of Athenaeum’s existing funds
and develop an internal sales structure to service institutional and high net worth investors in South East Asia. In
addition, the partners worked to leverage these asset management competences via Azimut international presence
and clients. In January 2016, Azimut acquired the remaining 45% to extract stronger commercial synergies and
operational efficiencies. The local strategy will be to continue growing on distribution as well as providing Private
Banking solutions through an “External Asset Manager” approach.
Australia
On 3 November 2014, Azimut acquired a 93% stake in Next Generation Advisory (“NGA”), an Australian based
company newly established with the purpose of consolidating financial planning businesses, providing asset
allocation and advisory services to local retail, high net worth investors and institutional clients. The Australian
wealth management industry is the largest market in the Asia Pacific region and the 4th largest in the world. Australia
has one of the world’s leading pension system (Superannuation), which has underpinned the growth of the Australian
asset management industry. Since the launch of the initiative, the Group completed more than 46 transactions,
including 15 vertical acquisitions of local clients’ book. Moreover, AZ NGA Accounting was launched to further
develop the book of business and extract synergies. In August 2015, a majority stake (76%, later increased to 100%)
was acquired in Ironbark Funds Management (RE) Ltd (renamed AZ Sestante), a company operating as trustee and
manager of Australian mutual funds, necessary to launch and offer funds locally. Currently Australia is the second
largest foreign market in terms of AuM size for Azimut.
Monaco
On 10 May 2011, Azimut through its subsidiary AIH signed a binding frame agreement with CGM (Compagnie de
Gestion privée Monegasque); the acquisition of a 51% stake has been completed on 30 December 2011. The
partnership added new competences to Azimut Group targeting UHNWI also thanks to CGM’s operating subsidiary
in Italy (CGM Italia SGR S.p.A.). Current CGM management entered Azimut’s shareholders’ agreement. In 2016,
Azimut acquired the remaining 49%.
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Egypt
In 2019, Azimut entered the Egyptian market through AIH with the aim of growing on both the production and
distribution sides of the business. In June 2019, Azimut acquired 100% of Rasmala Egypt (renamed Azimut Egypt
Asset Management), an Egyptian independent asset management company. Rasmala Egypt manages conventional
and Shariah compliant portfolio management in Egypt with AUM of EGP 8.46 billion (USD 474 million). The
Company has a high quality team of portfolio managers and analysts with 10 investment professionals managing a
range of strategies embedded in public funds and mandates for local Sovereign institutions, international Sovereign
Wealth Funds, pension plans, public banks and high net worth investors. The team’s track record includes periods of
extended instability and volatility for local markets with an overall 624% accumulated returns over the period 2005June 2018 in local currency, well above 537% for EGX 30 and 324% on average for local funds. In 2017, the Arab
Bank Corporation Equity Fund, managed by Rasmala Egypt, was ranked first for 3, 5 and 6 years performance.
Switzerland
AZ Swiss & Partners was established in 2012 and, on January has received the authorization from the FINMA, the
Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority, to operate under a LICol license. In June 2016, AZ Swiss acquired
the business of Sogenel Capital Holding S.A., which formed a new division within AZ Swiss. In June 2017, AZ
Swiss acquired the entire equity capital of SDB Financial Solutions S.A. (“SDB”), which operates as a subsidiary of
AZ Swiss and continues to be headed by SDB’s management team. With this second acquisition and its organic
growth strategy AZ Swiss has achieved total AuM of almost €2 billion as of December 2017. With these acquisitions
AZ Swiss is starting to deploy its strategy based on: (i) the management of mutual funds (both UCITS and FIA) and
discretionary portfolios; (ii) the distribution of funds to qualified investors (HNW and institutional clients); (iii) the
consolidation of independent asset managers and private bankers in Switzerland to grow an independent wealth
management platform.
U.A.E.
In March 2017, Azimut signed an agreement to acquire 80% of New Horizon Capital Management LTD (“NHCM”),
later renamed to Azimut DIFC, a boutique asset management company based in the Dubai International Financial
Centre (“DIFC”) with a Category 3A license issued by the Dubai Financial Services Authority (“DFSA”). At the
same time, Azimut signed a shareholders agreement with the current management and partners of NHCM to develop
the business in the UAE and the wider Middle East and Northern Africa region (“MENA”). Today the presence in
the UAE is expanded also to Abu Dhabi through Azimut ME.
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Commissions and fees
The Group generally charges entry or exit fees to investors for its asset management products and services. In
addition, the funds charge fixed management fees and variable management fees as a remuneration for the portfolio
management activity of the funds. Fixed annual management fees are generally charged by the management company
of the Group’s fund. The management fee is calculated based on the net asset value of the fund or sub-fund and is
paid to the mutual fund’s management company on a monthly basis. Variable management fees are generally charged
to the fund based on the performance of the fund.
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Azimut Group submitted to the Luxembourg supervisory authority a
methodology for the calculation of variable management fees on Luxembourg based funds in line with IOSCO
guidelines. This methodology was approved on 4 October 2019. As anticipated in a Group’s press release dated 24
January 2019, the new methodology will be based on an annual benchmark calculation plus a spread linked to product
categories, in line with IOSCO principles. The impacted on the Group’s P&L will be significant, with Recurring Fee
expected to make up ca. 90% of Total Revenues (from 80% today) and ca. 80% of Net Profit (from ca. 35% today).
Distribution Network
The Group distributes its products and services primarily through a network of financial advisors in Italy and abroad
and, to a lesser extent, through the banking channel.
In Italy the distribution activity is carried out by (i) Azimut Capital Management SGR S.p.A. with reference to the
placement and distribution of its own investment services and of both own and third party mutual funds and (ii) by
Azimut Financial Insurance S.p.A. with reference to the activity of placement and distribution of insurance products
(including insurance-financial products) and banking services.
The Group’s distribution business is carried out in connection with the independent advisory business. This business
consists of personalised recommendations to customers on the basis of the Group’s specific knowledge and
experience in the investment business. Since 2014, the Group has offered personalised financial advisory services,
providing highly qualified advice for the management of investment portfolios.
Furthermore, Azimut Capital Management also carries out the receipt and transmission of orders. In connection with
each agreement entered into from time to time in relation to third party’s products, the Group can also sell other
products (including banking products). The Group’s financial advisors also have the possibility of placing OICR
regulated by Italian or foreign law.
Financial Advisors
The Groups distributes and sells products mainly through its network of financial advisors concentrated primarily in
Northern and Central Italy. As of 30 September 2019, the Group employed 1,798 financial advisors with high
professional standing and significant average individual portfolios.
Management believes that financial advisors represent a key strength of the Company in light of the following
principal characteristics:





emphasis on horizontal management;
high degree of independence and entrepreneurship;
ownership in the Company; and
stability.

The financial advisors report directly to a sole area delegate, who is also a financial advisor, responsible for the
coordination of a specific geographic area (the “Area Delegate”), without any intermediate management structure.
Financial advisors are retained pursuant to an exclusive agency agreement with Azimut Capital Management SGR
S.p.A. as independent contractors and not as employees of the Group.
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The Group’s distribution network is further distinguished by the participation of its financial advisors in the share
capital of the Company. As of the date of this Prospectus, the majority of individuals holding shares through Timone
Fiduciaria S.r.l. are financial advisors. For further information on the Company’s shareholding, see “Principal
Shareholders and Corporate Governance”.
Management believes the above characteristics reflect key strengths in the Group’s strategy and help create a
professional and stable distribution network. The annual attrition rate of the Group’s financial advisors was
approximately 5.4% in 2018 and 5.7% in 2017 (including retirements), which management believes is among the
lowest in the industry in Italy7.
Compensation
The Group’s financial advisors are mostly compensated based on commissions received on the sale of financial
products and management fees associated with customer assets under management. The terms of compensation are
governed by individual agency agreements entered into between Azimut Capital Management SGR S.p.A. and the
financial advisors.
Territorial Distribution
The diagram below sets out the Group’s territorial distribution in Italy as at 30 June 2019:

________
Source: Management compilation based on internal data.

As at 30 September 2019, the Group’s customer base was predominately located in Northern and Central Italy,
corresponding to the areas of higher concentration of the Group’s financial advisors and the branches of banks
distributing the Group’s products.
Recruitment and Training
Recruitment of new members to the Group’s sales force is carried out at a local level and includes active participation
by Area Delegates and the sales department of Azimut Capital Management SGR S.p.A.. The Group recruits financial
advisors with significant experience, typically from competitors of the Group, retail or private banks. As part of the
ongoing professional development of financial advisors, the Group organises internal professional development
courses, including sessions facilitated by external experts. Training is based on suggestions from financial advisors
and on specific needs of the Group, including continuing education on new financial products, new laws and
regulations and anti-money laundering regulations. Financial advisors also attend an asset allocation course and are
trained in the use of specialised software for portfolio analysis, which is able to detect discrepancies between a
customer’s portfolio and a reference portfolio with the risk profile indicated by the customer.

7

Source: Assoreti, 2018 report (published on April 3, 2019), please see:
http://www.assoreti.it/images/archivio_pdf/pubblicazioniStatistiche/Relazione_Annuale_2018.pdf
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Banking Channel
The Group also distributes its products to a minor extent through the banking channel, which represented less than
10% of the Group’s AuM as of 30 September 2019. Since 1999, the Group has entered into several distribution
agreements with medium-sized and smaller local Italian banks not affiliated with large competitor banking or
insurance groups that offer its mutual funds through their networks and branches.
Marketing
The Group acquires new customers primarily through marketing activities carried out by financial advisors and
through referrals from existing customers. The Group sponsors selected mass media marketing campaigns to
strengthen the Group’s brand name and conducts direct marketing campaigns consisting of direct mailing and other
marketing programs.
The Group’s marketing efforts are primarily directed towards private customers in middle- and high-income
segments with an emphasis on establishing long-term customer relationships and diversifying customer investment
strategies. Customer relations typically start with a financial advisor’s in-depth review of the customer’s
expectations, economic condition and investment objectives in order to suggest an appropriate investment strategy
and to be able to propose financial products that will implement that strategy. The marketing approach of the Group
can be categorised as customer-oriented rather than product-oriented.
Investment Management
AZF is the main asset management company of the Group, making up the vast majority of the Group’s total assets.
AZF was incorporated in 1999 in Luxembourg as an asset management company and enrolled with the companies’
register of the administrative district of Luxembourg under No. B 73.617. It is regulated by the Commission de
Surveillance du Secteur Financier, Luxembourg (the “CSSF”) and is controlled by the Issuer.
The corporate purpose of AZF is (i) the collective management of UCITS established under Luxembourg or foreign
law, pursuant to Directive 2009/65/EC as amended or replaced as well as other undertakings for collective investment
or mutual funds under Luxembourg law and/or foreign law that are not included in said directive and (ii) the collective
management of AIF's established under Luxembourg of foreign law, pursuant to the AIFM Directive. The Company
is approved by the CSSF as authorised AIFM within the meaning of the AIFM Provisions.
Collective Investment Schemes
AZF is the designated:


Management company of AZ FUND 1, AZ FUND 3 and AZ MULTI ASSET, three Luxembourg
undertakings for collective investments in transferable securities (“UCITS”) within the meaning of
Directive 2009/65/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the coordination of laws,
regulations and administrative provisions relating to UCITS (the “UCITS Directive”).



Alternative investment fund manager of AZ PURE CHINA and AZ ESKATOS, two Luxembourg
specialised investment funds qualifying as alternative investment funds ("AIF") within the meaning of
Directive 2011/61/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on alternative investment fund
managers (the “AIFM Directive”).

Investment process
The Board of Directors of AZ Fund Management, with the support of the Investment Committee and the Risk
Management establishes the Collective Investment Undertakings of the Company and their sub-funds, defining their
objectives, investment policies and general investment strategies. The Board of Directors then defines the general
investment strategies and verifies and supervises their correct implementation and application throughout the entire
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investment process. The investment committee is composed by the chief investment officer, the investment managers,
the analysts and the risk manager. The role of the Investment Committee is, inter alia, to define the macroeconomic
scenario, provide a view on each asset class and suggestion about asset allocation.
The general investment strategies resolved by the Board of Directors, are implemented by the Chief Investment
Officer and the Investment Management Team in compliance with the general investment strategies and with the
investment policy of each sub-fund.
Portfolio management team and capabilities
The Investment Management and Analyst Team is made up of 11 professionals, with average experience of 11 years
and expertise in the following asset classes/strategies:
-

Equity

-

Fixed Income

-

Allocation

-

Alternative Investment Strategies

-

Multimanager (investing in funds managed by other AMCs)

Investment policies and procedures
The Issuer’s Board of Directors is in charge of the strategic and management supervision and, with the support of
the investment committee and the risk management department of the main product factory, establishes the collective
investment portfolios and defines their relevant objectives, policy and general strategic guidelines.
In particular, the Board of Directors of AZ Fund Management S.A. has the following responsibilities:


the setting of the general investment policies, with specific reference to the risk-return profile; and



the periodic verification of the effectiveness of the general investment policies and their correct
implementation and application.

The investment committee is composed of the chief investment officer, the investment managers, the analysts, and
the risk manager, and is chaired by the chief investment officer.
The Company’s advisors may be invited to participate in the investment committee.
The investment committee meetings are held on a weekly basis.
The role of the Investment Committee is to:


provide support to the Board of Directors of the Company, in the context of the analysis of the management
results, as reported from time to time, and in the definition (and update) of the general investment strategies;



provide support to the Chief Investment Officer, in the context of the implementation of the general
investment strategies as resolved by the Board of Directors;



in case of white list advisory model, to analyze and validate the white list proposal (to be approved by the
board of directors); and



in case of advisory provided via an algorithm investment model or a quantitative investment model, to
analyze and validate the model.
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The chief investment officer implements the investment strategies resolved by the board of directors, with the support
of the investment committee. The chief investment officer is also responsible, jointly with the management team, for
the execution of the investment decisions regarding financial instruments.
The management team is composed of the investment managers responsible for implementing the approved
investment strategies, which are executed by the trading desk pursuant to the guidelines and instructions of the chief
investment officer.
The analysts support the activity of the investment committee by analysing market scenarios and any variable
necessary to define the general and operational investment strategies.
The risk management department provides the Board of Directors with risk valuations and performance reports, in
order for the board to properly decide on the items to be approved.
The risk management department issues ex-post verifications of the investment limits as resolved by the board of
directors.
The trading desk materially executes the relevant transactions in financial instruments, after the due ex ante controls
of the individual investment orders.
Employees
As of 31 December 2018, Group personnel amounted to 962 employees, of which 133 were managers, compared to
830 employees as of 31 December 2017. The following table sets out the evolution of the Group’s workforce at the
end of the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2018.

Managers
Middle
Office staff
Total

As of 31 December
2017

As of 31 December
2018

157
153
520
830

133
194
635
962

Legal Proceedings
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Group is not involved in any relevant litigation which could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
In the course of 2018, Azimut Capital Management SGR S.p.A. was subject to a regular inspection by CONSOB
(the Italian commission for listed companies and the stock exchange), as a consequence of which the company was
requested to implement certain amendments and improvements to its internal procedures and standards. At the same
time, on 28 March 2019, CONSOB notified the commencement of a sanctioning procedure in relation to a portion
of the findings of the inspection. As at the date of this Prospectus, the outcome of the sanctioning procedure was still
unknown, but the issue does not expect that it might have a material adverse effect.
On 17 May 2016, in connection with an ordinary inspection, the Bank of Italy sanctioned, for an overall amount of
Euro 212,000, seven board members (out of 12) and the three statutory auditors of the Issuer. The sanctions cover
items related to the Group’s compensation policies (including Group’s procedural aspects) for employees and
financial advisors in Italy.
Azimut Capital Management SGR S.p.A., an entirely owned subsidiary of the Issuer, underwent in 2016 an ordinary
overview by CONSOB, whose final outcome is still pending, without any expected material adverse effect.
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Legislative and regulatory framework
A summary of the significant regulatory matters affecting the Group’s activities is set out below. The summary is not
intended to provide a comprehensive description of all such regulatory profiles and should not be considered
exhaustive. Regulations are subject to continuous amendments and updates and the summary does not necessarily
reflect all such elements. The Group is also present in countries other than Italy, Ireland and Luxembourg, and is
therefore subject to additional local regulations.
Italy
Collective asset management and individual portfolio management
In Italy, the legal framework of both collective asset management and portfolio management is primarily set forth
in the Italian Unified Financial Act (or “IUFA”) and the related implementing regulations, issued by the supervisory
authorities (Bank of Italy and CONSOB), each within their respective scope. Both topics are regulated in compliance
and pursuant to the relevant Directives of the European Union.
Pursuant to Article 1, paragraph 1, letter n) IUFA, the collective asset management is the service which is carried
out through the management of OICRs and the related risks. The notion of OICR includes undertakings within the
scope of application of Directive 2009/65/EU (so-called “UCITS”) and undertakings within the scope of Directive
2011/61/EU (so-called “Alternative Investment Funds” or “AIFs”), as from time to time amended.
Pursuant to Article 1, paragraph 5-quinquies IUFA, “portfolio management” means the management, on a
discretional and individual basis, of portfolio investments which include one or more financial instruments and
according to mandates conferred by the clients.
In accordance with Article 34 IUFA, the Bank of Italy, after consulting CONSOB, authorises asset management
companies to provide the collective asset management service for both UCITS and AIFs - as from time to time
amended - and to perform the portfolio management service, the investment advisory service and the service of the
reception and transmission of orders, when the following conditions are fulfilled:


the legal form adopted is that of a joint stock company (società per azioni);



the registered office and the head office of the company are in Italy;



the paid-up capital is not less than that established on a general basis by the Bank of Italy;



the persons performing administrative, management and control functions are suitable in accordance with
Article 13 of the IUFA;



the shareholders indicated in article 15, subsection 1, IUFA, have the requirements and meet the criteria set
forth in Article 14 IUFA and the disqualification conditions contemplated by Article 15, subsection 2, IUFA
have not been fulfilled;



the structure of the group of which the company is part is not prejudicial to the effective supervision of the
company and at least the information required pursuant to Article 15(5) IUFA is provided;



a programme of initial operations and a description of the organisational structure have been submitted
together with the instrument of incorporation and the articles of association;



the name of the company contains the words “società di gestione del risparmio”; and



authorisation shall be denied where verification of the conditions indicated above shows that sound and
prudent management is not ensured.

An asset management company may be licensed in order to carry on asset management activities in relation to
UCITS, and/or in relation to AIFs, as from time to time amended. A management company may hold both licences
and can therefore be authorised to manage both types of funds.
Pursuant to Article 33 of the IUFA, asset management companies manage the portfolio and risks of the OICR and
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provide for the administration and marketing of the OICR which they manage. Asset management companies may
also:
 provide portfolio management services;


set up and manage pension funds;



perform connected or instrumental activities;



provide ancillary services limited to the units of the managed OICR;



provide investment advisory services;



market units and shares of OICR managed by third parties, in compliance with the rules of conduct
established by CONSOB after consultation with the Bank of Italy; and



provide the service of reception and transmission of orders, if authorised to offer AIF management services.

In the performance of collective asset management activities, management companies must comply with specific
rules of conduct. In this regard, pursuant to Article 35-decies IUFA, management companies must act with diligence,
fairness and transparency, in the interest of the unit holders of the funds and must maintain market integrity.
Moreover, management companies must be properly organised (i) to minimize the risk of conflicts of interest
(including between different managed portfolios) and, in case of conflict, act to ensure equal treatment of the mutual
funds, (ii) to adopt appropriate measures to safeguard the rights of the unit holders of the fund and (iii) to have
sufficient resources and procedures to ensure the efficient performance of the services. Management companies must
ensure equal treatment to all the investors of the same fund in respect of the conditions established by CONSOB,
after consultation with the Bank of Italy, in compliance with the law of the European Union. In the case of reserved
AIFs, preferential treatment to one or more investors or investor categories is allowed in compliance with Directive
2011/61/EU, as from time to time amended, and the relative enactment provisions.
In compliance with the IUFA, the Bank of Italy regulation on collective asset management of 19 January 2015, as
subsequently amended (the “SGR Regulation”), sets forth the regime applicable to management companies for the
performance of collective asset management activities. The SGR Regulation fully implements the EU regulations,
in particular with reference to the UCITS and the AIFM Directive, and all relevant implementing measures, as from
time to time amended.
The SGR Regulation includes the main provisions relating to collective investment management, prudential
provisions provided for management companies and collective investment funds, and, in particular:
a) the authorisation procedure for asset management companies (“SGRs”);
b) restrictions on the participations that may be held and the activities that may be carried out by management
companies;
c) capital adequacy and risk management regulations;
d) restrictions on shareholders in management companies and relevant participations therein; and
e) restrictions on corporate officers of management companies.
The joint regulation issued by the Bank of Italy and CONSOB on 29 October 2007 on the organisation and procedure
of the intermediaries carrying the Group’s investment services or collective asset management services, as
subsequently amended (the “Joint Regulation”), sets forth, inter alia, the organisational structure of management
companies and identifies procedures to be adopted for the performance of investment services or collective
investment services.
The rules on the conduct and disclosure obligations of management companies towards investors are set forth in the
CONSOB Regulation No. 11971, of May 14, 1999 (the “Regulation on Issuers”), as from time to time amended,
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and the CONSOB Regulation adopted with decision No. 20307, of February 15, 2018 (the “Intermediaries
Regulation”).
In particular, the Regulation on Issuers provides that management companies are subject to transparency,
communication and conduct of business standards in connection with public offerings made through the offer of
units or shares of mutual funds, and the Regulation governs the relevant procedures. The Regulation on Issuers also
identifies specific provisions that management companies must comply with, depending on the various types of
funds subject to the offer. It also sets forth the procedure applicable to the admission to trading in a regulated market
for units or shares of funds.
The Intermediaries Regulation identifies, inter alia, the obligations of transparency and fairness, and the general
rules of conduct in relation to the offering of the units of the fund.
The management of AIFs is also subject to the directly applicable provisions of Regulation n. 231/2013/UE,
concerning alternative investment funds.
Mutual Investment funds
The regime of mutual investment funds is set out in the above-mentioned provisions. Pursuant to Article 36 IUFA,
management companies can manage funds they incorporate, as well as funds incorporated by other management
companies. The latter include funds incorporated in other EU or non-EU jurisdictions that can be managed on a
cross-border basis according to the provisions of the UCITS and/or AIFMD Directives on cross border activities of
asset management companies, as from time to time amended.
Participation in a mutual investment fund is governed by the participation agreement, represented by regulation of
the fund, which establishes: a) the name and the duration of the fund; b) the procedures for participation in the fund,
the terms and procedures for the issue of the certificates, the reimbursement of units and the liquidation of the fund;
c) the bodies responsible for the investment choices and for the criteria for dividing the investments according to
those choices; d) the type of assets, financial instruments and other valuables in which the capital of the fund may be
invested; e) the criteria for the determination of the income and of the management results and any systems for the
sharing and distribution of the same; f) the expenses borne by the fund and those borne by the asset management
company; g) the measure or criteria for determining the commission due to the asset management company and the
costs charged to investors; h) the means for publishing the unit value; i) whether the fund is a feeder fund.
The regulation of the fund is drafted in accordance with the provisions of the IUFA and the SGR Regulation, which
identifies the general criteria and the minimum content of the regulation of the management of mutual funds as well
as the approval procedure. Such requirements and criteria are, however, not applicable to funds that are reserved to
professional investors, as defined pursuant to the provisions of the IUFA implementing Directive 2004/39/EU
(“MiFID”), and as regulated under Ministerial Decree n. 30/2015 issued by the Italian Ministry of Economy and
Finance.
The custody of the securities and cash in a mutual fund is entrusted to a custodian, which is liable to the management
company and the unit holders of the fund for any loss suffered by them as a result of non-fulfilment of its obligations.
Each mutual investment fund or each segment of such a fund represents an independent pool of assets, separate to
all effects from that of the asset management company and from that of each investor, as well as from any other
assets managed by the same company; with regard to the obligations undertaken on behalf of the fund, the asset
management company is liable only with the assets of that fund. Claims on such assets on the part of the creditors of
the asset management company or in the interests of the same, or on the part of the creditors of the custodian or subcustodian or in the interests of the same are not admitted. Claims of creditors of a single investor are admitted only
on the units held by said investor. Under no circumstances may the asset management company use the assets of the
funds managed in its own interests or those of third parties.
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The assets of each fund or compartment must be managed in full compliance with the rules set out in the fund’s
regulation, as well as with the investment limits and prudential provisions issued by the Bank of Italy – in compliance
with EU Directives and Regulations - in terms of concentration of risk, as applicable depending upon the nature and
characteristics of the fund.
Ministerial Decree n. 30/2015 of 5 March 2015, issued by the Italian Ministry of Economy and Finance, implements
Article 39 IUFA, and sets forth the general criteria with which Italian mutual funds must comply.
Italian mutual investment funds are classified according to:
a) their structure (open-ended vis à vis closed-ended funds);
b) the subject of their investments (financial instruments, real estate, holdings in other companies, other assets);
and
c) the categories of investors to which the offer is addressed.
The Ministerial Decree regulates the procedures for the participation in open and closed funds, the frequency of
issuances and the redemption of units, as well as the minimum and maximum duration of the fund.
The Intermediaries Regulation and the Legislative Decree No. 206 of 6 September 2005 (the “Consumer Code”),
as from time to time amended, regulate the possibility of promotion and placement of investment services and
financial products by means of remote communication techniques.
Portfolio management
In accordance with Article 24 IUFA, the management of individual portfolios shall be carried out according to
specific rules. Such rules reflect the provisions of the MiFID. In particular:
a)

the client may issue orders that are binding for the portfolio manager in connection with the transactions to be
carried out;

b)

the client may terminate the contract at any time, without prejudice to the right of withdrawal of the
management company, pursuant to Article 1727 of the Italian Civil Code; and

c)

the power to exercise the voting rights attached to the managed financial instruments can be attributed to the
management company through a proxy issued in writing for each meeting, within the limits and in the manner
established by the regulation issued by the Ministry of Economy and Finance, after consulting the Bank of Italy
and CONSOB.

Pursuant to the Intermediaries Regulation, individual portfolio management is subject to the suitability rule (Articles
39-40); the management contract with retail clients must contain the specific information identified by Article 38;
management companies are required to provide the clients with periodic reports on the service performed (Article
54). Further conduct of business rules apply as provided for by MiFID and its implementing measures.
In the context of the individual portfolio management, any financial instruments and money of individual clients
held by the management company constitute separate assets in all respects from the assets of the management
company and from the assets of other clients. Actions brought by creditors of the intermediary, or in its interests,
against such assets are not permitted, nor are those brought by the creditors of the depositary or sub-depositary, or
in their interest. Actions brought by the creditors of individual investors are permitted within the limits of the assets
owned by them (Article 22, paragraph 1, IUFA).
Investment advisory services.
In compliance with MiFID, art. 1, par. 5-septies, IUFA, defines advisory services as the provision of customised
recommendations to a customer upon request or at the initiative of the service provider, regarding one or more
transaction, on an identified financial instrument. The recommendation is deemed customised when it is presented
as suitable for the customer or is based on consideration of the customer’s characteristics. A recommendation shall
not be deemed customised if disclosed to the public through distribution channel. Advisory services may be provided
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on a stand-alone basis, or in connection with the provision of other services: as to the latter, typically, asset
management company provide this service in connection with the distribution of investment funds units. Advisory
services are subject to stringent conduct of business rules, aimed at ensuring adequate protection for the clients,
including the suitability test, as regulated under MiFID.
Open pension funds
Pursuant to Article 33 IUFA, management companies may also establish and manage pension funds.
The regulation of complementary pension schemes is set forth in Legislative Decree No. 252 of 5 December 2005,
as from time to time amended, and other related provisions issued by the Pension Funds Supervisory Commission
(Commissione di Vigilanza sui fondi pensione, “Covip”).
Pursuant to the regulation concerning the procedures for the authorisation, the operation of complementary pension
schemes, the amendments to the by-laws and regulations, the recognition of legal personality, mergers and transfers,
and cross-border activity issued by Covip in 15 July 2010, as from time to time amended, the parties involved must
submit to Covip a specific authorisation request. Covip authorises the transaction after consulting the supervisory
authorities on the applicant.
Each compartment of the pension fund constitutes an autonomous asset, distinct in all respects from the assets of the
management company and from that of each unit holder, as well as from any other assets managed by the same
company.
Furthermore, the management company regulates and fulfils requirements specific to the management of pension
funds by management companies, relating to capital requirements and uses particular caution due to the type of
funds.
Anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism provisions
Legislative Decree No. 231 of 21 November 2007 (the “Decree”), as from time to time amended, concerning the
prevention of the use of the financial system for the purpose of laundering the proceeds of crime and financing
terrorism, represents the implementation in Italy of directive 2015/849 (the so called “fourth money laundering
directive”), which sets out the relevant execution measures. The Decree regulates the powers and capabilities of the
different institutions involved in the prevention of and fight against money laundering and financing of terrorism,
as well as related implementing measures.
According to the Decree and implementing regulations, issued by the Bank of Italy and the Financial Intelligence
Unit (“FIU”), management companies shall adopt procedures and mechanisms necessary for the fulfilment of the
obligations imposed by the anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism provisions. In particular, management
companies must carry out the activities set forth below (FIU provisions for sending aggregated data of 23 December
2013; the Bank of Italy Act of July 2019, implementing provisions in the field of customer due diligence, pursuant
to Article 7, paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree 21 November 2007, No. 231; the Bank of Italy Act of 3 April 2013,
implementing provisions for the preservation of the common information catalogue and for the simplified
registration procedure provided by Article 37 of the Legislative Decree of 21 November 2007, No. 231; the Bank of
Italy Act of March 2019 setting forth provisions for the organisation, procedures and internal controls aimed to
prevent the use of intermediaries and other entities engaged in financial money laundering and financing terrorist,
pursuant to Article 7, paragraph 2 of the Decree of 21 November 2007, No. 231; the Bank of Italy Act of 24 August
2010 as well as several FIU communications setting forth the indicators of anomaly for intermediaries):
•

identify the customer, any performer and beneficial owner and verify their identity, based on the principle of
a risk-based (customer) due diligence;

•

fulfil the obligation to abstain, when so required by the applicable provisions;

•

report suspicious transactions to the FIU;

- 49 -

•

establish and manage the unique information archive;

•

retain records and information acquired;

•

transmit to the FIU aggregated anti-money laundering reports; and

•

establish adequate precautions to control the risks of money laundering and financing terrorism and ensure
adequate training of employees and collaborators to prevent money-laundering operations.

Off-site offer
Pursuant to Article 30 IUFA, management companies may carry out off-site offers, i.e., the promotion and placement
of securities to the public in places other than the registered office or other offices of the issuer, or the entity in
charge of the promotion and the settlement, exclusively with respect to units of mutual funds (OICR) or to the
investment services that they are authorised to provide For off-site offers, management companies must use financial
advisors, registered in a dedicated register and subject to the requirements set forth in Article 31 IUFA and related
regulations.
Regulatory framework applicable to the mutual funds under Irish law
In Ireland, the collective fund management activity is regulated, with respect to harmonised funds (Undertakings for
Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) (“UCITS”), by the European Communities Regulations 2011 (S.I.
No. 352 of 2011), which transposed the UCITS IV directive into the Irish legal framework. Management companies
of harmonised funds and/or self-managed harmonised funds can be established through unit trusts, investment
companies with variable capital (similar to Sicav), Irish collective asset management vehicles (ICAVs) or common
contractual funds. In addition, the Central Bank of Ireland (“CBI”) has issued a series of so-called “UCITS Notices”,
which contain detailed regulation for the organisation and procedures that management companies of harmonised
funds and self-managed harmonised funds must follow in providing collective fund management services. The
UCITS Notices regulate, inter alia:
a)

the authorisation procedure of harmonised funds and/or management companies of harmonised funds;

b)

the regulation and supervision powers of the CBI;

c)

the minimum mandatory information that must be included in the prospectus;

d)

the minimum content of the annual and semi-annual financial reports;

e)

the eligible financial investments and the restrictions applicable to the investments;

f)

the investment in derivative financial instruments and the techniques for an efficient portfolio management
(securities lending and repurchase agreements);

g)

investment in indices and other funds UCITS; and

h)

the capital adequacy and the risk containment.

The UCITS Notices have also implemented in full the Guidelines ESMA 832/2012 (“ESMA Guidelines on ETFs
and other UCITS issues”).
In addition, the CBI has published additional regulatory measures (so-called “Guidance Notes” and “Policy
Documents”) that provide additional clarification about UCITS. The Guidance Notes and Policy Documents provide
binding guidance on, inter alia: evaluation and pricing of the funds; investments in derivative financial instruments
and rules for the exchange of the collateral; investment in indices; minimum requirements of disclosure in the
prospectus of structured funds, investment in other funds.
Non-harmonised funds (“Non UCITS”, a category which also includes qualified investor funds “QIF”) which can
be established through:
•

Unit Trusts, pursuant to the Unit Trusts Act, 1990;
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•

Investment companies with variable capital, pursuant to Part XIII of the Companies Act, 1990;

•

Common Contractual Funds, pursuant to the Investment Funds, Companies and Miscellaneous

•

Provisions Act of 2005; and

•

Investment Limited Partnerships, pursuant to the Investment Limited Partnerships Act, 1994,

(together the “Irish Fund Legislation”)
In addition, the CBI has issued a series of so-called “Non-UCITS Notices”, which contain the detailed regulation for
the organisation and procedures that management companies non-harmonised funds and self-managed nonharmonised funds must follow in providing collective fund management services. The Non-UCITS Notices regulate,
among others:
a)

the authorisation procedure of harmonised funds and/or management companies of non-harmonised funds;

b)

the regulation and supervision powers of the CBI;

c)

the minimum mandatory information that must be included in the prospectus;

d)

the minimum content of the annual and semi-annual financial reports;

e)

the eligible investments and the restrictions applicable to the investments;

f)

the investment in derivative financial instruments and the techniques for an efficient portfolio management
(securities lending and repurchase agreements); and

g)

the capital adequacy and the risk containment.

Also with regard to the non-harmonised Funds, the CBI has published Guidance Notes and Policy Documents that
provide additional clarification about Non-UCITS. The Guidance Notes and Policy Documents provide binding
guidance on, among others, the evaluation and pricing of the funds; investments in derivative financial instruments,
closed investment funds, and master feeder and funds of funds.
The Non-UCITS Notices and related Guidance Notes and Policy Documents continue to apply to certain nonharmonised funds but most non-harmonised funds are now regulated by the European Union (Alternative Investment
Fund Managers) Regulations 2013 (S.I. No 257 of 2013) (the “AIFM Legislation”) and new rules issued by the
CBI, the so-called “AIF Rulebook”, which was issued by the CBI in July 2013 as part of the implementation of
Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive 2011/61/EU, as from time to time amended, and of European
Regulation 231/2013 and consolidation of the CBI’s regulatory measures generally. Ireland was one of the first
European countries to implement the above-mentioned European legislation. The Irish Fund Legislation, AIFM
Legislation and the AIF Rulebook as of November 2015 now constitute the regulation applicable to alternative
investment funds. The AIF Rulebook establishes, among others, detailed rules relating to:
a)

the type of eligible alternative funds (Retail AIF, Qualified AIF, Master Feeder, etc.);

b)

the authorisation requirements of the AIF;

c)

the eligible investments and the applicable restrictions to the investments for each type of AIF;

d)

the regulation and supervision powers of the CBI;

e)

the capital adequacy and the risk containment;

f)

the mandatory information that must be included in the prospectus; and

g)

the minimum content of the annual and semi-annual financial reports.

In connection to individual portfolio management, the Directive 2004/39/CE and the subsequent implementing
directives (so-called “MiFID”) have been implemented in Ireland by the European Communities (Markets in
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Financial Instruments) Regulations 2007 (S.I No 60 of 2007). The aforementioned national law, and its subsequent
amendments, contain the detailed regulation with respect to investment services related to, among others:
a)

the reception and transmission of orders in relation to one or more financial instruments;

b)

execution of orders on behalf of clients;

c)

dealing on own account, measuring the activity of trading against proprietary capital resulting in the
conclusion of transactions in one or more financial instruments;

d)

portfolio management;

e)

underwriting of financial instruments with or without underwriting and/or guarantee; and

f)

investment advice.

Regulatory framework applicable to undertakings for collective investment under Luxembourg law
The Group carries out management activity with respect to undertakings for collective investment (“UCI”) in
Luxembourg through AZF.
AZF is a management company authorised under Chapter 15 of the Luxembourg Law of 17 December 2010 (the
“UCI Law”), as from time to time amended, and an alternative investment fund manager registered according to the
Luxembourg Law of 12 July 2013 (the “AIF Law”), as from time to time amended, and it is monitored and supervised
by the local regulator, the CSSF.
In Luxembourg, there are two large categories of UCI:


undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities (the “UCITS”), which comply with the
Directive 2009/65, as amended from time to time, on that subject;



alternative investment funds (the “AIFs”), which cover all other types of fund including hedge funds, real
estate investment funds and venture capital and private equity funds.

On 23 August 2018, the CSSF issued the circular 18/698 concerning the (i) authorisation and organisation of IFMs
incorporated under Luxembourg law and (ii) specific provisions on the fight against money laundering and terrorist
financing applicable to investment fund managers and entities carrying out the activity of registrar agent (the
"Circular 18/698"). The main purpose of the Circular 18/698 is to define the conditions for obtaining and maintaining
the authorization for all investment fund managers presented within one single document. In addition, the Circular
18/698 aims at providing further clarifications on certain conditions for authorization, more particularly in the area
of the shareholder structure, own fund requirements, management bodies of the investment fund manager,
arrangements concerning the central administration and governance, and rules of delegation.
UCITS
The term UCITS refers back to the Directive 2009/65, the objective of which was to create a single European market
for retail investment funds, while at the same time ensuring a high level of investor protection. The Directive 2009/65
exclusively targets collective investment schemes that invest in securities (such as shares and bonds) quoted on a
recognised stock exchange. UCITS must be open ended, so that the investor can redeem his holdings at any time and
the UCITS’ investment policy must also respect a number of rules relating to portfolio diversification, asset liquidity
and the use of hedging.
Luxembourg UCITS are supervised by the CSSF. Following the approval by the CSSF, the European passport allows
a UCITS to be sold to the general public and registered for distribution in all EU Member States.
The main legal structure adopted for UCITS is the common investment fund (called “Fonds commun de placement”
or “FCP”), which has no legal personality, and which must be managed by a fund management company.

- 52 -

This structure can be set up as a multi-compartment fund (also known as “umbrella fund”) which creates separate
sub-funds (compartments) under the roof of a single fund. These sub-funds function as independent entities, each
with its own investment policy, target distribution market and investor profile.
Each fund or sub-fund can, in turn, issue different classes of units which vary, for instance, by type and level of
commissions, enabling particular units to be tailored to the needs of a specific market or clientele (institutional or
private).
Currently AZF is the management company of three UCITS umbrella funds: AZ Fund 1, AZ Multi Asset and AZ
Fund 3. Most of the sub-funds are directly managed by AZF, even if for some of them third party manger has been
appointed (in the vast majority of the cases the appointed managers are companies with the Group). In the
performance of its management activities, AZF can rely on the activities and services performed by its advisors,
appointed mainly among the companies of the Group.
AIF
Alternative investment funds are investment funds that are not already covered by the Directive 2009/65, including
hedge funds, funds of hedge funds, venture capital and private equity funds and real estate funds.
Luxembourg AIFs are supervised by the CSSF.
There are no legal restrictions on the type of assets in which AIFs may invest, but the CSSF has established
requirements regarding risk diversification, which however are less strict than for UCITS.
The main structure of AIFs, reserved for use by well-informed investors and provided for by Luxembourg regulation,
is the specialised investment fund (“SIF”), which enjoys a high degree of freedom in its investment policy.
As a UCITS, the SIF can adopt the legal form of a FCP, which has no legal personality, must nominate a management
company, and can be structured as a multiple compartment fund which, within a single legal entity, creates separate
sub-funds (compartments) with different investment policies.
Currently AZF is the management company and the investment manager of one SIF, AZ Pure China and AZ Fund
Eskatos. AZ Pure China has two sub-funds: Equity Strategy and Fixed Income Strategy. In the performance of its
management activities, AZF can rely on the activities and services performed by the Shanghai based company within
the Group appointed as investment advisors for both sub-funds.
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Principal Shareholders and Corporate Governance
Principal Shareholders
Azimut was listed on the Milan Stock Exchange (ticker AZM.IM) on 7 July 2004. The shareholder structure includes
over 1,900 managers, employees and financial advisors, together with Peninsula Capital, represented by Timone
Fiduciaria S.r.l. and bound by a shareholders’ agreement that controls over 24% of the share capital of Azimut. The
remaining share capital is free float.
In June 2018, Timone Fiduciaria S.r.l. strengthened its stake in Azimut Holding S.p.A. by acquiring, together with
Peninsula Capital, a further 8% stake in the Company and increasing its ownership approx. from 15% to 24%. In
particular, this transaction involved more than 1,200 Azimut’s employees and partners investing a total of approx.
€155 million, equivalent to approx. 11 million Azimut Holding S.p.A. shares.
As of 30 September 2019, the share capital structure of the Company was as follows8:
No. of shares

% of
share
capital

Timone Fiduciaria S.r.l.(1) ................................................

34,880,425

24.35%

Treasury shares ................................................................

2,319,451

1.62%

Market .............................................................................

106,054,621

74.03%

Total ................................................................................

143,254,497

100%

Shareholders

(1)

Timone Fiduciaria S.r.l. represents the shares of approximately 1,900 individual shareholders (financial advisors,
employees, managers working for the Company) as well as Peninsula Capital who are bound by a shareholders’
agreement.

Shareholders’ Agreement
Certain employees, financial advisors and key executives of the Issuer entered into a shareholders’ agreement (the
“Shareholders’ Agreement”) to govern their respective shareholdings in Azimut. The Shareholders’ Agreement was
renewed on 7 July 2019 for a three-year term and shall automatically renew on 7 July 2022 for an additional threeyear term, unless the absolute majority of voting rights included in the Shareholders’ Agreement object to such
renewal.
As of 30 September 2019, the parties to the Shareholders’ Agreement were 2,012 shareholders of Azimut shares, as
well as Peninsula Capital, holding a total of 34,880,425 shares of Azimut and representing 24.35% of its share capital.
The Shareholders’ Agreement provides that the shares held by the parties to the Shareholders’ Agreement shall be
subject to a lock-up provision. The duration and percentage of shares covered by such lock-up shall depend on the
tenure of the party in the Shareholders’ Agreement as set forth below.
Years matured
<3
3-6
6-9
>9

8

% of locked shares
75%
66%
33%
25%

Source: Company information.
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% of shares excluded from lockup
25%
34%
67%
75%

As of 30 September 2019, the shares of the Issuer subject to the lock-up provisions pursuant to the Shareholders’
Agreement amounted to 20,023,982, or 13.98% of the share capital of Azimut. The shares not covered by such lockup provision may be sold at any time, provided, however, that such shares shall be subject to a pre-emption right by
the other parties to the Shareholders’ Agreement.
A committee is responsible for managing and monitoring the participants’ obligations and rights under the
Shareholders’ Agreement.
Corporate Governance
The Issuer complies with the Italian applicable corporate governance regulations and law. Moreover, the corporate
governance structure substantially reflects the recommendations contained in the Corporate Governance Code
published by Borsa Italiana S.p.A..
Pursuant to Article 4.C.1 (a) of the Corporate Governance Code, the board of directors of the Company established:
(i) a committee for the determination of directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and (ii) a committee for the oversight of internal control and corporate risks (the “Internal Control
and Risks Committee”).
The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is required to make proposals to the board of directors regarding the remuneration of
directors and executive officers with certain strategic responsibilities.
The establishment of this Committee is expected to help ensure transparency regarding the level and the manner of
determining the compensation for executive officers and certain key executives.
Pursuant to Article 7.C.4 of the Corporate Governance Code, Company’s directors are not allowed to attend the
meetings of the Remuneration Committee when their remuneration is discussed.
Internal Control and Risks Committee
The Internal Control and Risks Committee assures that the evaluations and decisions by the board of directors
regarding the Group’s internal control and risk management procedures, as well as the review of the interim reports,
are supported by adequate investigations.
Pursuant to Article 4.C.1 (e) of the Corporate Governance Code the Internal Control and Risks Committee shall have
access to all information and all corporate departments in order to fulfil its tasks, and may engage external
consultants.
In particular, the Issuer has established a risk management and internal control system regarding financial reporting,
using as a reference the “COSO Report”, under which the Internal Control in the broadest sense is “a process effected
by an entity’s board of directors, management and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the achievement of objectives”; specifically, the objective of reliable financial reporting.
Management
The Issuer is managed by a Board of Directors. In addition, as required by Italian law, the shareholders of Azimut
elect a board of statutory auditors. The business address of the members of the Board of Directors and statutory
auditors is Via Cusani 4, 20121, Milan, Italy.
Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of Azimut has full powers of ordinary and extraordinary administration. It may perform all
actions it deems advisable to achieve the Company’s corporate purpose, except for actions reserved for the
shareholders under applicable Italian laws or the Company’s by-laws.
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The Board of Directors of Azimut currently consists of 12 members. The board was appointed on 24 April 2019 and
will remain in office until the approval of the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2021, except for
those directors representing the distribution channel (Mrs. Ambra Zironi and Mrs. Mirella Pardi), who rotate every
year and therefore will be replaced following the approval of the financial statements as of 31 December 2019.
During the same Board meeting, the Company’s governance has been defined with the appointment of Gabriele Blei
as Chief Executive Officer, Paolo Martini as Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director, Alessandro Zambotti
as Chief Executive Officer and CFO, and Massimo Guiati and Giorgio Medda both as Chief Executive Officers. Mr.
Pietro Giuliani remaining as non-executive Chairman.

Name

Position

Pietro Giuliani ...................................

Chairman

Paolo Martini

Chief Executive Officer & Managing
Director

Alessandro Zambotti

Chief Executive Officer, CFO and
manager charged with preparing a
company’s financial reports.

Gabriele Blei .....................................

Director and Chief Executive Officer

Giorgio Medda ...................................

Director and Chief Executive Officer

Massimo Guiati ..................................

Director and Chief Executive Officer

Nicola Colavito(*) .............................

Director

Raffaella Annamaria Pagani(*) ..........

Director

Antonio Andrea Monari(*) ................

Director

Anna-Maria Bortolotti(*) ...................

Director

Ambra Zironi(**) ...............................

Director

Mirella Pardi(**) ...............................

Director

(*) Director meeting the independence requirements provided under Article 147-ter, fourth paragraph and Article 148, third
paragraph, of the Italian Unified Financial Act and Article 3 of the Corporate Governance Code.
(**) Non-executive directors (financial advisors qualified for external offerings operating in the Group’s companies) whose
appointment is proposed for a single year and who will therefore alternate during the course of the three year term of the other
board members in order to provide full representation of the members of the Shareholders’ Agreement.
Mrs. Mirella Pardi will be replaced by Mrs. Cinzia Stinga starting from the approval of the financial statements as of 31
December 2019. Mrs. Cinzia Stinga will be replaced by Mrs. Chiara Savino starting from the approval of the financial
statements as of 31 December 2020.
Mrs. Ambra Zironi will be replaced by Mrs. Lucia Zigante starting from the approval of the financial statements as of 31
December 2019. Mrs. Lucia Zigante will be replaced by Mrs. Anna Fenocchio starting from the approval of the financial
statements as of 31 December 2020.
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Other relevant Activities of the members of the Board of Directors
The table below summarises, in respect of each member of the board of directors, those positions held outside of
the Group which are significant with respect to the Company.
Name

Position

Pietro Giuliani ..................................

N/A

Alessandro Zambotti ........................

N/A

Gabriele Blei ....................................

N/A

Giorgio Medda .................................

N/A

Paolo Martini .....................................

N/A.

Massimo Guiati .................................

N/A

Nicola Colavito .................................

Director of KIKO Milano S.p.A.,
Director of Guala Closures S.p.A.,
Director of Garofalo HealthCare S.p.A. e
Partner of Peninsula Capital Advisors LLP

Raffaella Annamaria Pagani ..............

Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
Brembo S.p.A.
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
Amplifon S.p.A.
Alternate statutory auditor of UniCredit S.p.A.
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
Sanofi S.p.A.
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
Ferrovienord S.p.A.
Statutory auditor of e- DISTRIBUZIONE
S.p.A.
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
Nord-Com S.p.A.
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
La Linea S.p.A.
Statutory auditor of Vanguard Logistics
Services S.p.A.
Statutory Auditor of SIB S.p.A. Società
Italiana Bricolage
Statutory auditor of Tata Consultancy Services
Italia S.r.l.
Statutory auditor of Caronte & Tourist S.p.A
Statutory auditor of SEN S.p.A. Servizio
Elettrico Nazionale
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Name

Position
Statutory auditor of Ditta Luigi Salvadori
S.p.A.
Statutory auditor of Concessioni Autostradali
Lombarde S.p.A.
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
Dufry Shop Finance Limited S.r.l.
Auditor of Alpa S.p.A.
Auditor of Comune of Curtatone

Antonio Andrea Monari ....................

N/A

Anna-Maria Bortolotti .......................

Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
Malossi S.p.A.
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
Made Italia S.p.A.
Statutory auditor of SO.GE.A.AL. S.p.A.
Statutory auditor of BAP S.p.A.

Mirella Pardi......................................

N/A

Ambra Zironi ....................................

N/A

Board of Statutory Auditors
Under Italian law, besides electing the board of directors, the shareholders also elect a board of statutory auditors
(collegio sindacale). The board of statutory auditors is composed of three independent experts in accounting matters,
plus two alternate auditors who will automatically replace outgoing statutory auditors or statutory auditors who are
otherwise unable to serve. Minority shareholders have the right to appoint one standing member. Each member of
the board of statutory auditors must be registered with the national register of auditors. The shareholders of Azimut
elected the current board of statutory auditors on 24 April 2019. The auditors will remain in office until the approval
of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.
The table below sets forth the names of the current members of the board of statutory auditors and their positions.
Name

Position

Vittorio Rocchetti .............................

Chairman

Costanza Bonelli ...............................

Permanent Auditor

Carlo Daniele Trivi ............................

Permanent Auditor

Maria Catalano ..................................

Alternate Auditor

Federico Strada .................................

Alternate Auditor
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Other relevant Activities of the members of the Board of Statutory Auditors
The table below summarises, in respect of each member of the board of statutory auditors, those positions held
outside of the Group which are significant with respect to the Company.
Name
Vittorio Rocchetti .............................

Position
Director of Rupe S.p.A.
Director of Bruzzone & Co. S.r.l.
Director of La Fenice S.r.l.
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
Azienda Mobilità e Trasporti S.p.A. –AMT
Genova
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
Consorzio Abit Coop Liguria Soc. coop. a r.l.
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
T. Mariotti S.p.A. a socio unico
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
F.lli Tossini S.r.l.

Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
Panificio Pasticceria Tossini I S.p.A.
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
S.D.P. Distribuzione Petroli S.r.l.
Statutory Auditor of Amico & Co S.r.l.
Statutory Auditor of Amico Servizi S.r.l.
Statutory Auditor of Boninfanti S.r.l.
Statutory Auditor of C.L.B. Combustibili
Lubrificanti Brugnato S.r.l.
Statutory Auditor of ETT S.r.l.
Statutory Auditor of Finbeta S.p.A.
Statutory Auditor of Igino Mazzola S.p.A.
Statutory Auditor of Genova Industrie Navali
S.p.A.
Statutory Auditor of Gerolamo Scorza S.p.A. a
socio unico
Statutory Auditor of Ligurcapital S.p.A.
Statutory Auditor of Lima S.r.l.
Statutory Auditor of Mikai S.p.A.
Statutory Auditor of Montalbano Industria
Agroalimentare S.p.A.
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Name

Position
Statutory Auditor of Selvi S.p.A.
Statutory Auditor of Unogas Tech S.p.A.
Statutory Auditor of Villa Montallegro S.p.A.
Sole Auditor of Ga.Ma. S.p.A.
Sole Auditor of Elettrotecnica Pergolo S.r.l.
Sole Auditor of Comune di Portofino
Chairman of Auditors of Accademia
Linguistica di Belle Arti
Member of Auditors of Fondazione Istituto
David Chiossone, Genova
Member of Auditors of Circolo Artistico
Tunnel
Member of Auditors of Registro Italiano
Navale, Roma
Member of auditors of Consiglio Regionale
Assemblea Legislativa della Regione Liguria,
Genova

Costanza Bonelli ..............................

Chairman of Auditors of Fondazione Caritas
Ambrosiana
Alternate statutory auditor of IGV Group S.p.A.
Alternate statutory auditor of S.I.R.T. Monte
Pora S.p.A.
Director of Fondazione Certified Accountants
of Milan
Director of Fondazione Pro-Familia
Sole Auditor of Fondazione per la famiglia
Profumo di Betania Onlus
Chairman of Auditors of Fondazione Casa della
carità “Angelo Abriani”
Sole Auditor of Comelt S.p.A.
Director of Opera Cardinal Ferrari Onlus
Director of Immobiliare Sede
Commercialisti di Milano S.p.A.

Dottori

Statutory Auditor of Cerved Group S.p.A.

Carlo Daniele Trivi ............................
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
SC Johnson Italy S.r.l.
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Name

Position
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
BVVA Finanzia S.p.A. in liquidazione
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
Patheon Italia S.p.A.
Sole statutory auditor of GE Capital Funding
Statutory auditor of Moody’s Italia S.r.l.
Chairman of the board of statutory auditors of
Adenium SGR in Liquidazione
Statutory auditor of Diversey S.p.A.
Statutory auditor of Diversey Italy Production
S.r.l.
Statutory auditor of Sensient Food Colors Italy
S.r.l.
Statutory auditor of Minimold S.p.A.
Statutory Auditor of Cyber 3000 Holding Italia
S.p.A.
Alternate statutory auditor of Nextam Partners
SGR S.p.A.
Alternate statutory auditor of Nextam Partners
S.p.A.
Alternate statutory auditor of Nextam Partners
SIM S.p.A.
Sole Director of Norma SPV S.r.l.
Director of Capital Partners S.r.l.
Auditor of Immobiliare Iempa S.r.l.

Maria Catalano ..................................

Sole Auditor of Istituto Casa Famiglia
Alternate statutory auditor of Programma 101
S.p.A.
Alternate statutory auditor of Diners Club Italia
S.r.l.
Alternate statutory auditor of Timone Fiduciaria
S.p.A.
Alternate statutory auditor of Tenova S.p.A.
Alternate statutory auditor of Techint Industrial
Corporation S.p.A.
Alternate statutory auditor
Compagnia Tecnica Int. S.p.A.

of

Techint

Alternate statutory auditor of Mitel Italia S.p.A.
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Name

Position
Alternate statutory auditor of Interplus S.p.A.
Alternate statutory auditor of Ge.Sat S.c.ar.l.
Alternate statutory auditor of Teur S.p.A.
Alternate statutory auditor of Non Performing
Loan S.p.A.
Alternate statutory auditor of COIMA RES
S.p.A. SIIQ
Alternate statutory auditor of Azimut Libera
Impresa SGR S.p.A.
Alternate statutory auditor of Immed S.r.l.
Alternate statutory auditor of Gellify S.r.l.

Federico Strada

Sole Statutory auditor of Bruzzone & Co. S.r.l.
Statutory Auditor and Auditor of Carabelli S.r.l.
Statutory Auditor and Auditor of ESSE S.p.A.
Alternate Auditor of Yarpa Investimenti SGR
S.p.A.
Alternate Auditor of Yarpa S.p.A.
Alternate Auditor of YLF S.p.A.
Chairman of the Union Young Certified
Accountants – Sezione Genova
Valuator of Genova Court
Bankruptcy Trustee of Genova Court
Auditor of Opera Pia Conservatorio Fieschi
Auditor of Yacht Club Italiano
Treasurer of Associazione Matteo Farinelli
Member of the council of guarantors for the
Istituto dei Ciechi David Chiossone Onlus

Key Executives
The senior management of Azimut is set forth below.
Name

Position

Pietro Giuliani ..................................

Non-executive Chairman

Paolo Martini .....................................

CEO & Managing Director

Alessandro Zambotti .........................

CFO and CEO
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Gabriele Blei .....................................

Chief Executive Officer

Massimo Guiati ................................

CEO

Giorgio Medda ………………………… CEO
Conflicts of Interest
No potential conflicts of interest exist between any duties to Azimut of its board of directors, statutory auditors or
management and the private interests, and/or other duties, of such persons. No member of the board of directors,
board of statutory auditors or management of Azimut has or has had any interest in any transactions that are or were
unusual in their nature or conditions and were significant to its business. Certain members of the board of directors
may have interests in companies that carry out transactions with Azimut in the ordinary course of business from time
to time. Please see “Relationships with Related Parties”.
The Issuer has not granted any loans or guarantees to or for the benefit of any member of its board of directors, board
of statutory auditors or senior management.
Relationships with Related Parties
In accordance with the provisions set forth in Article 2391-bis of the Italian Civil Code and CONSOB Resolution
No. 17221 of 13 March 2010 as amended with CONSOB resolution No. 19974 of 27 April 2017 (the “OPC
Regulation”), the Board of Directors approved a procedure (the “OPC Procedure”) as amended on 10 May 2018
governing the approval and consummation of transactions implemented with related parties by the Company and its
subsidiaries that ensure the substantial and procedural fairness of such transactions, as well as the accuracy of the
information relating to those transactions provided to the public. The OPC Procedure has been approved by the Board
of Directors, upon affirmative opinion of the independent directors’ committee, pursuant to Article 4 of the OPC
Regulation.
The OPC Procedure governs the approval and consummation of material and non-material transactions. Material
transactions are defined transactions, based on criteria given in the OPC Regulation, while non-material transactions
are transactions other than the material transactions and transactions carried out in the ordinary course of business,
as defined in the OPC Regulation.
In evaluating a transaction with a related party, the Related Party Committee (composed of the independent directors)
is required to issue a non-binding opinion on whether the transaction serves the corporate interest as well as on the
substantial fairness of the relevant terms and conditions.
Risk Management
The risk management function
The risk management function (the “RMF”) is in charge of the implementation of the processes and procedures
devised to manage all the potential sources of risk affecting the funds under management (market, liquidity,
counterparty and operational risks, as well as all other risks). It oversees the system of internal risk limits for the
portfolios, with a specific focus on the global risk, the counterparty risk and the risk associated with the positions
and their contribution to the overall risk profile of the funds.
The RMF advises the board of directors on the definition of the funds’ risk profile and reports, on a regular basis (at
least monthly), to the conducting person responsible for its supervision, as well as, to the board of directors.
In particular, the RMF monitors:


that the level of risk of the funds is consistent with its designated risk profile;
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that the funds respect the relevant procedures for controlling the risks; and



that the RMF is adequate and effective, and that all necessary measures have been taken in order to correct
possible shortfalls.

The RMF sends regular reports to the conducting persons (at least monthly) outlining the current level of risk incurred
by each managed fund and any actual or foreseeable breaches of their limits, so as to ensure that prompt and
appropriate action can be taken.
Operational Risk Management
The operational risk management (the “ORM”) is focused on the breakdown of the level of risk of each monitored
activity for each operating unit of the Company. The risks and the event types are mapped according to the “Basel
II” model. The ORM employs a methodological approach to assess the operational risks adopting a framework
consisting in the identification of the activities to be monitored by reviewing the internal procedures of each operating
unit, and breaking down the risk level of each one of them with one-to-one interviews with the managers of each
unit, to map and assess four categories of risk factors (human resources, technology, process and external factors)
and seven categories of event types (internal fraud, external fraud, employment practices and workplace safety,
clients products and business practices, damage to physical assets, business disruption and system failures, execution,
delivery and process management) for all the activities performed within the relevant units.
Each activity is assigned a risk level between 1 and 4 (not relevant or very low, low, medium, high) which represents
the frequency of the occurrence of anomalies in the performance of the relevant activity.
In the ORM, the first step is to identify the business lines to be involved during the assessment with an accurate
analysis of the organisational chart and linking the Company processes to each business line. For those activities
where a risk cluster is detected or a high-level risk is identified, a scorecard will be set up. The scorecard will map
the frequency and severity risk in order to quantify the initial risk, effectiveness of controls (human, system,
preventive, corrective), the losses and their probable frequency according to the current controls. An assessment
value between 0 and 5 (from non-present to best practice) is given to the control activity/ process.
The main risks monitored
The RMF monitors the following main risks:
Market Risk
The RMF evaluates the market risk through an ex-post risk model based on historic value at risk (“VaR”) levels.
Whenever this level exceeds 85% of the maximum 12 months rolling VaR, this is promptly reported to the Board of
Directors and the Chief Investment Officer. In addition, an ex-ante risk model based on VaR warning thresholds is
approved by the Board of Directors. These indicators are checked by the RMF every day and reported to the
responsible persons whenever a threshold is breached. In addition, to better assess the market risks which could affect
the sub-funds a stress test is carried out on a monthly bases and reported to the Board of Directors.
Liquidity Risk
The RMF performs liquidity risk checks of the equity portion of the portfolios taking into account the last 20 days
average volume (of every security considering only 10% of each security as tradable). The liquidity of the bond
component of each sub-fund is based on the liquidity score calculated with systems supplied by external providers.
Counterparty Risk
Trading is allowed only with approved counterparties after an assessment of their standing with respect to their credit
rating; by means of a compliance tool of the front-office system, any breach of the regulatory limits on over-the-
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counter contract derivatives is prevented by checking every trade input by the portfolio managers. The RMF sends
to the Board of Directors a monthly report on the exposure to each counterparty by each sub-fund.
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Use of Proceeds
The net proceeds of the issue of the Bonds, expected to amount to approximately €498,290,000, may be used for
general corporate purposes, and to fund potential investments and extraordinary transactions across the Company’s
new 5-year business plan to be released in early 2020 (the “Business Plan”). This includes, but is not limited to, the
repayment of part of the Company’s indebtedness, including the partial reimbursement of a €200,000,000 credit
facility, as well as possible buy-backs of the Company’s outstanding equity securities.
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Recent Developments
On 5 November 2019, the board of directors of the Company approved and published the unaudited and unreviewed
consolidated interim financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the period ended 30 September 2019 (the
“Issuer’s Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Report as of 30 September 2019”) and announced the
launch of a market sounding activity in respect of the placement of the Bonds.
For the risks related to the Issuer’s Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Report as of 30 September 2019, please
see “Risk factors – Risks related to financial information as of 30 September 2019 contained in this Prospectus”.
It should be noted that the Company is responsible for the Issuer’s Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Report
as of 30 September 2019.
On 6 November 2019, Fitch Rating Ltd. (“Fitch”) announced that it had placed both the Company’s BBB long-term
issuer default rating and the BBB rating on the Company’s long-term outstanding unsecured indebtedness on rating
watch negative. It further announced that it expected to issue a long-term rating of BBB- to the Bonds. On 9
December 2019, Fitch announced that it had downgraded the Company’s long-term issuer default rating and its rating
in respect of long-term outstanding unsecured indebtedness to BBB- (i.e. the same rating as the Bonds) and assigned
a final long-term rating of BBB- to the Bonds.
For the risks related to the credit rating of the Bonds, please see “Risk factors – Risks related to the nature of the
Bonds – The credit rating of the Bonds may not reflect the potential impact of all risks”).
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Taxation
General
Prospective purchasers of Bonds are advised to consult their tax advisers as to the consequences, under the tax
laws of the countries of their respective citizenship, residence or domicile, of a purchase of Bonds, including,
but not limited to, the consequences of receipt of payments under the Bonds and their disposal or redemption.

ITALIAN TAXATION
The following is an overview of current Italian law and practice relating to the taxation of the Bonds. The
statements herein regarding taxation are based on the laws in force in Italy as of the date of this Prospectus and
are subject to any changes in law occurring after such date, which changes could be made on a retroactive
basis.
Prospective purchasers should be aware that tax treatment depends on the individual circumstances of each
Bondholder: as a consequence they should consult their tax advisers as to the consequences under Italian tax
law and under the tax laws of the country in which they are resident for tax purposes and of any other potentially
relevant jurisdiction of acquiring, holding and disposing of Bonds and receiving payments of interest, principal
and/or other amounts under the Securities, including in particular the effect of any state, regional or local tax
laws. References in this section to holders of the Bonds include the beneficial owners of the Bonds.
The following overview does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations which
may be relevant to a decision to subscribe for, purchase, own or dispose of the Bonds and does not purport to
deal with the tax consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of which (such as dealers in
securities or commodities) may be subject to special rules. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds are advised to
consult their own tax advisers concerning the overall tax consequences of their ownership of the Bonds.
Interest and other proceeds from the Bonds
Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1 April 1996 (“Decree No. 239”), as subsequently amended, provides for the
applicable regime with respect to the tax treatment of interest, premium and other income (including the
difference between the redemption amount and the issue price) (hereinafter collectively referred to as
“Interest”) from bonds issued, inter alia, by joint-stock corporations that are resident in Italy for tax purposes
and whose shares are admitted to trading on a regulated market or on a multilateral trading facility of: (i) an EU
Member State, or (ii) a State that is party to the European Economic Area Agreement which allow a satisfactory
exchange of information with Italy, as listed in the Decree of the Minister of Finance of September 4, 1996, as
amended and supplemented by Italian Ministerial Decree dated 23 March 2017 and possibly in any further
decree that will be issued pursuant to Article 11 (4) (c) of Decree No. 239, falling within the category of bonds
(obbligazioni) or debentures similar to bonds (titoli similari alle obbligazioni) pursuant to Article 44 of
Presidential Decree No. 917 of 22 December 1986, as amended and supplemented (“Decree No. 917”).
For these purposes, bonds or debentures similar to bonds are defined as securities that incorporate an
unconditional obligation to pay, at maturity (or at any earlier full redemption of the securities), an amount not
less than their nominal value with or without the payment of periodic interest and that do not give any right to
directly or indirectly participate in the management of the issuer or of the business in relation to which they are
issued nor any type of control on the management.
Italian resident Bondholders
Where an Italian resident Bondholder is (a) an individual not engaged in an entrepreneurial activity to which
the Bonds are connected, (b) a non-commercial partnership, pursuant to Article 5 of the Italian Income
Consolidated Code (“TUIR”), (c) a professional association, (d) a non-commercial private or public institution,
or (e) an investor exempt from Italian corporate income taxation, then Interest (other than capital gains) relating
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to the Bonds, accrued during the relevant holding period, are subject to a substitute tax, referred to as imposta
sostitutiva, levied at the rate of 26%, unless the relevant Bondholder holds the Bonds in a discretionary
investment portfolio managed by an authorised intermediary and, if meeting the relevant conditions, has validly
opted for the application of the “Risparmio Gestito” regime provided for by Article 7 of Legislative Decree No.
461 of 21 November 1997 (“Decree No. 461”).
In such latter case the Bondholder is subject to a 26% annual substitute tax on the increase in value of the
managed assets accrued at the end of each fiscal year (which increase include Interest accrued on the Bonds).
The substitute tax is applied on behalf of the taxpayer by the managing authorised intermediary. For more
information, see also “Capital Gains Tax” below. Subject to certain conditions (including minimum holding
period requirement) and limitations, Interest relating to the Bonds may be exempt from any taxation (including
from the 26% imposta sostitutiva) if the Bondholders are Italian resident individuals not engaged in
entrepreneurial activity or social security entities pursuant to Legislative Decree No. 509 of 30 June 1994 and
Legislative Decree No. 103 of 10 February 1996 and the Bonds are included in a long-term savings account
(piano di risparmio a lungo termine) that meets all the requirements set forth in Article 1 (100-114) of Law No.
232 of 11 December 2016 (“Finance Act 2017”) and in Article 1 (210-215) of Law No. 145 of 30 December
2018 (“Finance Act 2019”).
In the event that the Bondholders described under (a) and (d) above are engaged in an entrepreneurial activity
to which the Bonds are connected, the imposta sostitutiva applies as a provisional tax. Interest will be included
in the relevant beneficial owner’s income tax return and will be subject to ordinary income taxation and the
imposta sostitutiva may be recovered as a deduction from income tax due.
Where an Italian resident Bondholder is a company or similar commercial entity or a permanent establishment
in Italy of a foreign company to which the Bonds are effectively connected and the Bonds are deposited with
an authorised intermediary, Interest from the Bonds will not be subject to imposta sostitutiva, but must be
included in the relevant Bondholder’s annual income tax return and are therefore subject to general Italian
corporate taxation (IRES, generally levied at the rate of 24%; however, banks and other financial institutions –
with the exception of Società di gestione del risparmio (“SGRs”) and Società di intermediazione mobiliare
(“SIMs”) – will be subject to an additional corporation tax levied at the rate of 3.5%) and, in certain
circumstances, subject to the “status” of the Bondholder, also to regional tax on productive activities (IRAP,
generally levied at the rate of 3.9% while banks or other financial institutions will be subject to IRAP at the
special rate of 4.65%; in any case regions may vary the IRAP rate up to 0.92%).
If an investor is an open-ended or closed-ended investment fund or a SICAF (an investment company with
fixed share capital) or a SICAV (an investment company with variable capital) established in Italy (together,
the “Fund”), other than an Italian real estate investment fund or an Italian close-ended real estate investment
companies (Società di investimento a capitale fisso immobiliare or “Real Estate SICAFs”) and either (i) the
Fund or (ii) its manager is subject to the supervision of a regulatory authority and the relevant Bonds are
held by an authorised intermediary, Interest accrued during the holding period on the Bonds will not be subject
to imposta sostitutiva but must be included in the management results of the Fund accrued at the end of each
tax period. The Fund will not be subject to taxation on such result, but a withholding tax, up to 26%, will apply,
in certain circumstances, to distributions made in favour of unitholders or shareholders (the “Collective
Investment Fund Tax”).
Payments of Interest deriving from the Bonds to Italian resident real estate investment fund are neither subject
to imposta sostitutiva nor to any other income tax in the hands of the Italian real estate investment fund, provided
that the Bonds, together with the relevant coupons, are timely deposited with an authorised intermediary.
However, a withholding tax or a substitute tax at the rate of 26% will generally apply to income realised by
unitholders in the event of distributions, redemption or sale of units. Subject to certain conditions, income
realised by Italian real estate investment funds is attributed pro rata to the Italian resident unitholders
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irrespective of any actual distribution on a tax transparency basis. This regime applies also to Interest payments
made to Italian Real Estate SICAFs which meet the requirements expressly provided by applicable law.
Where an Italian resident Bondholder is a pension fund (subject to the regime provided for by Article 17 of the
Legislative Decree No. 252 of 5 December 2005) and the Bonds are deposited with an authorised intermediary,
Interest relating to the Bonds and accrued during the holding period will not be subject to imposta sostitutiva,
but must be included in the results of the relevant portfolio accrued at the end of the tax period, to be subject to
a 20% substitute tax (the “Pension Fund Tax”). Subject to certain conditions (including minimum holding
period requirement) and limitations, Interest relating to the Bonds may be excluded from the taxable base of
the 20% substitute tax if the Bonds are included in a long-term savings account (piano di risparmio a lungo
termine) that meets all the requirements set forth in Article 1 (100-114) of Finance Act 2017 and in Article 1
(210-215) of Finance Act 2019.
Pursuant to Decree No. 239, imposta sostitutiva is applied by banks, SIMs, fiduciary companies, SGRs,
stockbrokers and other entities identified by a decree of the Ministry of Economics and Finance (each an
“Intermediary”) as subsequently amended and integrated.
To be entitled to apply the imposta sostitutiva, an Intermediary must (i) be (a) resident in Italy or (b) resident
outside Italy, with a permanent establishment in Italy or (c) an entity or a company not resident in Italy, acting
through a system of centralised administration of notes and directly connected with the Department of Revenue
of the Italian Ministry of Finance (which includes Euroclear and Clearstream) having appointed an Italian
representative for the purposes of Decree No. 239; and (ii) intervene, in any way, in the collection of interest or
in the transfer of the Bonds. For the purpose of the application of the imposta sostitutiva, a transfer of Bonds
includes any assignment or other act, either with or without consideration, which results in a change in
ownership of the relevant Bonds or in a change of the Intermediary with which the Bonds are deposited.
If the Bonds are not deposited with an Intermediary, the imposta sostitutiva is applied and withheld by any
Italian financial intermediary (or permanent establishment in Italy of a non-resident financial intermediary)
paying Interest to a Bondholder or, absent that, by the Issuer.
Non-Italian resident Bondholders
Where the Bondholder is a non-Italian resident, without a permanent establishment in Italy to which the Bonds
are effectively connected, an exemption from imposta sostitutiva applies provided that the non-Italian resident
beneficial owner is either (a) resident, for tax purposes, in a country which allows for a satisfactory exchange
of information with Italy, as listed in the Italian Ministerial Decree of 4 September 1996, as amended and
supplemented by Ministerial Decree of 23 March 2017 and possibly further amended by future decrees issued
pursuant to Article 11(4)(c) of Decree No. 239 (the White List); or (b) an institutional investor that is
established in a country included in the White List, even if it does not possess the status of a taxpayer in its own
country of residence; or (c) an international body or entity set up in accordance with international agreements
which have entered into force in Italy; or (d) a Central Bank or an entity which manages, inter alia, the official
reserves of a foreign State.
In order to ensure gross payment, non-Italian resident investors without a permanent establishment in Italy to
which the Bonds are effectively connected must be the beneficial owners of the payments of Interest and (a)
deposit, directly or indirectly, the Bonds or the coupons with a resident bank or SIM or a permanent
establishment in Italy of a non-Italian resident bank or SIM, or a non-Italian resident entity or company
participating in a centralised securities management system (including Euroclear and Clearstream) having
appointed as its agent in Italy for the purposes of Decree No. 239 an Italian resident bank or SIM or a permanent
establishment in Italy of a non-Italian resident bank or SIM, or a central depositary of financial instruments
pursuant to Article 80 of Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24 February 1998, which are directly connected via
computer with the Ministry of Economy and Finance and (b) file with the relevant depository, prior to or
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concurrently with the deposit of the Bonds, a statement of the relevant Bondholder, which remains valid until
withdrawn or revoked, in which the Bondholder declares to be eligible to benefit from the applicable exemption
from imposta sostitutiva. Such statement, which is not requested for international bodies or entities set up in
accordance with international agreements which have entered into force in Italy nor in the case of foreign
Central Banks or entities which manage, inter alia, the official reserves of a foreign State, must comply with
the requirements set forth by Ministerial Decree of 12 December 2001, as subsequently amended.
The imposta sostitutiva will be applicable at the rate of 26% to Interest paid to Bondholders who do not qualify
for the exemption or do not timely and properly comply with set requirements.
Bondholders who are subject to the imposta sostitutiva might, nevertheless, be eligible for full or partial relief
under an applicable tax treaty, provided that the relevant conditions are satisfied (including documentary
fulfilments).
Capital Gains Tax
Any gain obtained from the disposal of the Bonds would be treated as part of the taxable business income (and,
in certain circumstances, depending on the “status” of the Bondholder, also as part of the net value of the
production for IRAP purposes) if realised by an Italian company or a similar commercial entity (including the
Italian permanent establishment of foreign entities to which the Bonds are connected), a business partnership
or Italian resident individuals engaged in an entrepreneurial activity to which the Bonds are connected.
Where an Italian resident Bondholder is (i) an individual not holding the Bonds in connection with an
entrepreneurial activity; (ii) a non-business partnership, (iii) a professional association, (iv) a non-business
private or public entity, any capital gain realised by such Bondholder from the disposal of the Bonds would be
subject to an imposta sostitutiva, levied at the rate of 26%. Under some conditions and limitations, Bondholders
may set off losses with gains. In respect of the application of the imposta sostitutiva, taxpayers may opt for one
of the three regimes described below:
(a)

Under the tax declaration regime (regime della dichiarazione), which is the default regime for taxation
of capital gains realised by Italian Bondholders under (i) to (iv) above, the imposta sostitutiva on capital
gains will be chargeable, on a yearly cumulative basis, on all capital gains, net of any offsettable capital
loss, realised by the Italian resident individual Bondholder holding the Bonds not in connection with an
entrepreneurial activity pursuant to all disposals of the Bonds carried out during any given tax year.
Italian relevant Bondholders must indicate the overall capital gains realised in any tax year, net of any
relevant incurred capital loss, in their annual tax return and pay imposta sostitutiva on such gains together
with any balance income tax due for such year. Capital losses in excess of capital gains may be carried
forward against capital gains realised in any of the four succeeding tax years.

(b)

As an alternative to the tax declaration regime, Italian resident Bondholders under (i) to (iv) above may
elect to pay the imposta sostitutiva separately on capital gains realised on each disposal of the Bonds
(the risparmio amministrato regime provided for by Article 6 of the Legislative Decree No. 461 of 21
November 1997, as a subsequently amended, the “Decree No. 461”). Such separate taxation of capital
gains is allowed subject to (a) the Bonds being deposited with Italian banks, SIMs or certain authorised
financial intermediaries and (b) an express election for the risparmio amministrato regime being made
timely in writing by the relevant Bondholder. The depository is responsible for accounting for imposta
sostitutiva in respect of capital gains realised on each disposal of the Bonds, net of any incurred capital
loss, and is required to pay the relevant amount to the Italian tax authorities on behalf of the taxpayer,
deducting a corresponding amount from the proceeds to be credited to the Bondholder or using funds
provided by the Bondholder for this purpose. Under the risparmio amministrato regime, where a
disposal of the Bonds results in a capital loss, such loss may be deducted from capital gains subsequently
realised, within the same securities management, in the same tax year or in the following tax years up to
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the fourth. Under the risparmio amministrato regime, the Bondholder is not required to declare the
capital gains in the annual tax return.
(c)

Any capital gains realised or accrued by Italian Bondholders under (i) to (iv) above who have entrusted
the management of their financial assets, including the Bonds, to an authorised intermediary and have
opted for the so-called risparmio gestito regime (regime provided by Article 7 of Decree No. 461) will
be included in the computation of the annual increase in value of the managed assets accrued, even if
not realised, at year end, subject to a 26% substitute tax, to be paid by the managing authorised
intermediary. Under this risparmio gestito regime, any decrease of the managed assets accrued at year
end may be carried forward against increase in value of the managed assets accrued in any of the four
succeeding tax years. Under the risparmio gestito regime, the Bondholder is not required to declare the
capital gains realised in the annual tax return.

Subject to certain conditions (including minimum holding period requirement) and limitations, capital gains on
the Bonds may be exempt from any taxation (including from the 26% imposta sostitutiva) if the Bondholders
are Italian resident individuals not engaged in entrepreneurial activity or social security entities pursuant to
Legislative Decree No. 509 of 30 June 1994 and Legislative Decree No. 103 of 10 February 1996 and the Bonds
are included in a long-term savings account (piano di risparmio a lungo termine) that meets all the requirements
set forth in Article 1 (100-114) of Finance Act 2017 and in Article 1 (210-215) of Finance Act 2019.
Any capital gains realised by a Bondholder which is a Fund (as defined above) will be included in the results
of the relevant portfolio accrued at the end of the tax period. The Fund will not be subject to taxation on
such result, but a withholding tax, up to 26%, will apply, in certain circumstances, to distributions made in
favour of unitholders or shareholders.
Any capital gains realised by a Bondholder which is an Italian real estate investment fund or an Italian Real
Estate SICAF will be subject neither to capital gain tax nor to any other income tax at the level of the real estate
investment fund or the Real Estate SICAF (see also “Interest and other proceeds from the Bonds”, above).
However a withholding tax or a substitute tax at the rate of 26% will generally apply to income realised by
unitholders or shareholders in the event of distributions, redemption or sale of units/shares.
Any capital gains realised by a Bondholder who is an Italian pension fund (subject to the regime provided for
by Article 17 of the Legislative Decree No. 252 of 5 December 2005) will be included in the result of the
relevant portfolio accrued at the end of the tax period, to be subject to the 20% substitute tax.
Subject to certain conditions (including minimum holding period requirement) and limitations, capital gains on
the Bonds may be excluded from the taxable base of the 20% substitute tax if the Bonds are included in a longterm savings account (piano di risparmio a lungo termine) that meets all the requirements set forth in Article 1
(100-114) of Finance Act 2017 and in Article 1 (210-215) of Finance Act 2019.
Capital gains realised by non-Italian resident Bondholders without a permanent establishment in Italy to which
the Bonds are effectively connected, from the disposal of Bonds issued by an Italian resident Issuer are not
subject to capital gain tax nor to any other Italian income tax, provided that the Bonds are traded on regulated
markets. The exemption applies provided that the non-Italian resident Bondholders file in due course with the
authorised financial intermediary an appropriate self-declaration (autocertificazione) stating that the
Bondholder is not resident in the Republic of Italy for tax purposes and has no permanent establishment in Italy
to which the Bonds are effectively connected.
Capital gains realised by non-Italian resident Bondholders without a permanent establishment in Italy to which
the Bonds are effectively connected from the disposal of Bonds not traded on regulated markets are not subject
to tax, provided that the beneficial owner: (a) is resident in a country included in the White List; or (b) is an
international entity or body set up in accordance with international agreements which have entered into force
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in Italy; or (c) is a Central Bank or an entity which manages, inter alia, the official reserves of a foreign State;
or (d) is an institutional investor which is established in a country included in the White List, even if it does not
possess the status of a taxpayer in its own country of residence.
Under these circumstances, if non Italian residents without a permanent establishment in Italy to which the
Bonds are effectively connected elect for the risparmio amministrato regime or are subject to the risparmio
gestito regime, exemption from Italian taxation on capital gains will apply provided that they timely file with
the Italian authorised financial intermediary a self-declaration attesting that all the requirements for the
application of the relevant double taxation treaty are met.
If none of the conditions above are met, capital gains realised by non-Italian resident Bondholders without a
permanent establishment in Italy to which the Bonds are effectively connected from the disposal of Bonds
issued by an Italian resident Issuer and not traded on regulated markets may be subject to the capital gain tax at
the current rate of 26%.
In any event, non-Italian resident individuals or entities without a permanent establishment in Italy to which
the Bonds are connected, who may benefit from a double taxation treaty with Italy providing that capital gains
realised upon the disposal of Bonds are to be taxed only in the country of tax residence of the recipient, will not
be subject to imposta sostitutiva in Italy on any capital gains realised upon the disposal of Bonds.
Inheritance and gift taxes
Subject to certain exceptions, Italian inheritance and gift tax is generally payable on transfers of assets and
rights, including the Bonds, (i) by reason of death or gift by Italian resident persons (or other transfers for no
consideration and the creation of liens on such assets for a specific purpose), even if the transferred assets are
held outside Italy, and (ii) by reason of death or gift by non-Italian resident persons (or other transfers for no
consideration and the creation of liens on such assets for a specific purpose), but only if the transferred assets
are held in Italy.
In such event, Italian inheritance and gift tax applies as follow:
(a)

transfers in favour of spouses and direct descendants or direct ancestors are subject to an inheritance and
gift tax applied at a rate of 4% on the value of the inheritance or the gift exceeding €1,000,000;

(b)

transfers in favour of relatives to the fourth degree or relatives-in-law of a direct lineage or after relativesin-law of a collated lineage up to the third degree are subject to an inheritance and gift tax applied at a
rate of 6% on the entire value of the inheritance or the gift. Transfers in favour of brothers/sisters are
subject to the 6% inheritance and gift tax on the value of the inheritance or the gift exceeding €100,000;
and

(c)

any other transfer, in principle, is subject to an inheritance and gift tax applied at a rate of 8% on the
entire value of the inheritance or the gift.

If the heir/heiress and/or the donee is a person with a severe disability, inheritance tax or gift tax is applied to
the extent that the value of the inheritance or gift exceeds €1,500,000.
Moreover, an anti-avoidance rule is provided for by Italian Law no. 383 of 18 October 2001 for any gift of
assets (such as the Bonds) which, if sold for consideration, would give rise to capital gains to the imposta
sostitutiva provided for by Decree No. 461. In particular, if the donee sells the Bonds for consideration within
five years from the receipt thereof as a gift, the done is required to pay the relevant imposta sostitutiva on capital
gains as if the gift was not made.
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With respect to Bonds listed on a regulated market, the value for inheritance tax and gift tax purposes is the
average stock exchange price of the last quarter preceding the date of the succession or of the gift (including
any accrued interest).
Transfer tax
Article 37 of Law Decree No. 248 of 31 December 2007, converted into Law No. 31 of 28 February 2008,
published on the Italian Official Gazette No. 51 of 29 February 2008, has abolished the Italian transfer tax,
provided for by Royal Decree No. 3278 of 30 December 1923, as amended and supplemented by the Legislative
Decree No. 435 of 21 November 1997.
Following the repeal of the Italian transfer tax, as from 31 December 2007 contracts relating to the transfer of
securities are subject to a €200 registration tax as follows: (a) public deeds and private deeds with notarized
signatures are subject to mandatory registration; (b) private deeds are subject to registration only in case of (i)
voluntary registration, (ii) filing with any Italian judicial authority, when carrying out administrative activity
(“attività amministrativa”, according to Article 6 of Italian Presidential Decree No. 131 of April 26, 1986), or
administrative authority, (“Caso d’uso”), (iii) being referred to or relied upon in any judgment of an Italian
Court (“Enunciazione”).
Stamp duty
Pursuant to Article 13(2-ter) of the tariff Part 1 attached to the Italian Presidential Decree No. 642 of 26 October
1972 (as amended by Article 19(1) of Decree No. 201 of 6 December 2011 (“Decree 201”), and Article 1(581)
of Italian Law No. 147 of 27 December 2013) a proportional stamp duty applies on an annual basis to the
periodic reporting communications sent by financial intermediaries to their clients for the securities deposited
therewith. As of 1 January 2014, stamp duty applies at a rate of 0.20% and, for taxpayers other than individuals,
cannot exceed €14,000. This stamp duty is determined on the basis of the market value or – if no market value
figure is available – the nominal value or redemption amount of the securities held. It may be understood that
the stamp duty applies to both Italian resident and non-Italian resident security holders, to the extent that the
Bonds are “held” with an Italian-based financial intermediary. Communications and reports are deemed to be
sent at least once a year even if the Italian financial intermediary is under no obligation to either draft or send
such communications and reports.
Based on the wording of the law and the implementing decree issued by the Italian Ministry of Economy and
Finance on 24 May 2012, the 0.20% stamp duty does not apply to communications and reports that the Italian
financial intermediaries send to investors who do not qualify as “clients” according to the regulations issued by
the Bank of Italy. Communications and reports sent to this type of investors are subject to the ordinary €2.00
stamp duty for each copy.
Wealth Tax on securities deposited abroad
Pursuant to Article 19(18) of Decree 201, Italian resident individuals holding the securities outside the Italian
territory are required to pay an additional tax at a rate of 0.20% for each year.
This tax is calculated on the market value of the securities at the end of the relevant year or – if no market value
figure is available – the nominal value or the redemption value of such financial assets held outside the Italian
territory. Taxpayers are generally entitled to an Italian tax credit equivalent to the amount of wealth taxes paid
in the State where the financial assets are held (up to an amount equal to the Italian wealth tax due).
Tax Monitoring Obligations
Pursuant to Law Decree No. 167 of 28 June 1990, converted by Law No. 227 of 4 August 1990 (as lastly
amended by Legislative Decree No. 90 of 25 May 2017), individuals, non-profit entities and certain partnerships
(società semplici or similar partnerships in accordance with Article 5 of Decree No. 917) resident in Italy who
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hold investments abroad or have financial activities abroad or are the actual owners, under the Italian moneylaundering law, provided by Italian Legislative Decree No. 231 of 21 November 2007, of investments abroad
or foreign financial assets must, in certain circumstances, disclose the aforesaid to the Italian tax authorities in
their income tax return (or, in case the income tax return is not due, in a proper form that must be filed within
the same time as prescribed for the income tax return).
Furthermore, the above reporting requirement is not required to comply with respect to: (i) Bonds deposited for
management with qualified Italian financial intermediaries; (ii) contracts entered into through Italian financial
intermediaries’ intervention, upon condition that the items of income derived from the Bonds have been subject
to tax by the same intermediaries.
EU Directive on automatic exchange of information and OECD Common Reporting Standard
On 9 July 2015, the Italian Parliament adopted Law No. 114 delegating the Italian Government to implement
in Italy certain EU Directives, including Directive 2014/107/EU. Such Directive is aimed at broadening the
scope of the operational mechanism of intra-EU automatic exchange of information in order to fight crossborder tax fraud and evasion. The implementation has been completed with the issue of the Decree dated 28
December 2015 as lastly amended by Decree dated 9 May 2019.
Following implementation of said Directive, the Italian Authorities may communicate to other Member States
information about interest and other categories of financial income of Italian source, including income from the
Bonds.
With the above-mentioned Decree issued on 28 December 2015, Italian Government has also enacted the Law
No. 95 of 18 June 2015 for the implementation of the Common Reporting Standard (CRS), developed by the
OECD. Pursuant to the CRS, participating jurisdictions will obtain from reporting financial institutions, and
automatically exchange with exchange partners on an annual basis, financial information with respect to all
reportable accounts identified by financial institutions on the basis of the common due diligence and reporting
procedures.
In the event of Bonds held through Italian financial institutions (as defined in the Italian Ministerial Decree of
December 28, 2015), they may be required to provide additional information to such financial institution to
enable it to satisfy its obligation, and consequently exchange information.
EU Savings Directive
The EU Savings Directive has been repealed with effect from 1 January 2016 in order to prevent overlap with
the new automatic exchange of information implemented under Council Directive 2014/107/EU.

LUXEMBOURG TAXATION
The following information is of a general nature only and is based on the laws presently in force in Luxembourg,
though it is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice. The information contained
within this section is limited to Luxembourg withholding tax issues and prospective investors in the Bonds
should therefore consult their own professional advisers as to the effects of state, local or foreign laws, including
Luxembourg tax law, to which they may be subject.
Please be aware that the residence concept used under the respective headings below applies for Luxembourg
income tax assessment purposes only. Any reference in the present section to a withholding tax or a tax of a
similar nature refers to Luxembourg tax law and/or concepts only.
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Withholding Tax
(a)

Non-resident holders of Bonds
Under Luxembourg general tax laws currently in force, there is no withholding tax on payments of
principal, premium or interest made to non-resident holders of Bonds, nor on accrued but unpaid interest
in respect of the Bonds, nor is any Luxembourg withholding tax payable upon redemption or repurchase
of the Bonds held by non-resident holders of Bonds.
Luxembourg has abolished the withholding system with effect from 1 January 2015 in favour of
automatic exchange of information under Council Directive 2003/48/EC of 3 June 2003 on the taxation
of savings income.

(b)

Resident holders of Bonds
Under Luxembourg general tax laws currently in force and subject to the law of 23 December 2005, as
amended (the “Relibi Law”), there is no withholding tax on payments of principal, premium or interest
made to Luxembourg resident holders of Bonds, nor on accrued but unpaid interest in respect of Bonds,
nor is any Luxembourg withholding tax payable upon redemption or repurchase of Bonds held by
Luxembourg resident holders of Bonds.
Under the Relibi Law payments of interest or similar income made or ascribed by a paying agent
established in Luxembourg to an individual beneficial owner who is a resident of Luxembourg will be
subject to a withholding tax of 20%. Such withholding tax will be in full discharge of income tax if the
beneficial owner is an individual acting in the course of the management of his/her private wealth.
Responsibility for the withholding of the tax will be assumed by the Luxembourg paying agent.
Payments of interest under the Bonds coming within the scope of the Relibi Law will be subject to a
withholding tax at a rate of 20%.
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Subscription and Sale
J.P. Morgan Securities plc, Banca IMI S.p.A. and Nomura International plc (together, the “Joint Lead
Managers”) have pursuant to a Subscription Agreement dated 10 December 2019, agreed with the Issuer,
subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, to subscribe the Bonds. The Issuer has agreed to pay to the Joint
Lead Managers combined commissions as set out therein and has agreed to reimburse the Joint Lead Managers
for certain of their expenses in connection with the issue of the Bonds. The Subscription Agreement entitles the
Joint Lead Managers to terminate it in certain circumstances prior to payment being made to the Issuer.

General
Neither the Issuer nor the Joint Lead Managers have made any representation that any action will be taken in
any jurisdiction by the Joint Lead Managers or the Issuer that would permit a public offering of the Bonds, or
possession or distribution of this Prospectus (in preliminary, proof or final form) or any other offering or
publicity material relating to the Bonds (including roadshow materials and investor presentations), in any
country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. The Joint Lead Managers have agreed that
they will comply to the best of their knowledge and belief in all material respects with all applicable laws and
regulations in each jurisdiction in which it acquires, offers, sells or delivers Bonds or has in its possession or
distributes this Prospectus (in preliminary, proof or final form) or any such other material, in all cases at its own
expense. They will also ensure that no obligations are imposed on the Issuer or any other Joint Lead Manager
in any such jurisdiction as a result of any of the foregoing actions.

United States
The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any state
or other jurisdiction in the United States. Subject to certain exceptions, Bonds may not be offered, sold or
delivered within the United States or to, or for the account of, U.S. persons, except in certain transactions
permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that it has not offered,
sold or delivered and will not offer, sell or deliver any Bonds within the United States or to U.S. persons, except
as permitted by the Subscription Agreement. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by
the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and regulations thereunder.
In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering, an offer or sale of Bonds within the United
States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of
the Securities Act.
The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold
within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt
from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given
to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.
Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that, except as permitted by the Subscription Agreement,
it has not offered, sold or delivered and will not offer, sell or deliver the Bonds, (i) as part of their distribution
at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering and the Closing
Date (as defined in the Subscription Agreement) within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of,
U.S. persons, and it will have sent to each dealer to which it sells Bonds during the distribution compliance
period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Bonds within the
United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons.
In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering, an offer or sale of Bonds within the United
States by a dealer that is not participating in the offering may violate the registration requirements of the
Securities Act.
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EEA selling restriction
Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available
and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Bonds to any retail investor in the European Economic
Area. For the purposes of this provision, the expression retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of
the following:
(a)

a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID
II”); or

(b)

a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) (2016/97), where that customer would not qualify as a
professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II.

United Kingdom
Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that:
(a)

it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be
communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of
Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”)) received by it in connection
with the issue or sale of the Bonds in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply
to the Issuer; and

(b)

it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything
done by it in relation to the Bonds in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Republic of Italy
The offering of the Bonds has not been registered pursuant to Italian securities legislation and, accordingly, no
Bonds may be offered, sold or delivered, nor may copies of this Prospectus or of any other document relating
to any Bonds be distributed in the Republic of Italy, except:
(i)

to qualified investors (investitori qualificati), as defined in Article 2, letter e), of the Prospectus
Regulation and any applicable provision of Legislative Decree no. 58/1998, as amended (the
“Financial Services Act”), and Italian CONSOB regulations; or

(ii)

in other circumstances which are exempted from the rules on public offerings, pursuant to Article
1 of the Prospectus Regulation, Article 34-ter of CONSOB Regulation no. 11971/1999, as
amended from time to time, and the applicable Italian laws.

In any event, any offer, sale or delivery of the Bonds or distribution of copies of this Prospectus or any other
document relating to the Bonds in the Republic of Italy under paragraphs (i) or (ii) above must:
a)

be made by an investment firm, bank or financial intermediary permitted to conduct such
activities in the Republic of Italy in accordance with the Financial Services Act, CONSOB
Regulation No. 20307 of February 15, 2018 (as amended from time to time) and Legislative
Decree No. 385 of September 1, 1993, as amended (the “Italian Banking Act”) (in each case, as
amended from time to time); and

b)

comply with any other applicable laws and regulations requirement which may be imposed from
time to time by CONSOB, the Bank of Italy (including the reporting requirements, where
applicable, pursuant to Article 129 of the Italian Banking Act and the implementing guidelines of
the Bank of Italy, as amended from time to time) and/or any other Italian authority.
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France
This Prospectus has not been prepared and is not being distributed in the context of an offer to the public of
financial securities in France (offre au public de titres financiers) within the meaning of Regulation (EU)
2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017. Consequently, the Bonds may not
be, directly or indirectly, offered or sold to the public in France, and neither this Prospectus nor any offering or
marketing materials relating to the Bonds must be made available or distributed in any way that would
constitute, directly or indirectly, an offer to the public in France.
By way of derogation to the preceding paragraph, the Bonds may be offered or sold in France exclusively to
persons providing investment services relating to portfolio management for the account of third parties
(personnes fournissant le service d’investissement de gestion de portefeuille pour compte de tiers), and/or
restricted circle of investors acting for their own account (cercle restreint d’investisseurs agissant pour compte
propre) as defined in, and in accordance with Articles L.411-1, L.411-2, D.411-1 and D.411-4 of the French
Code monétaire et financier, and/or to qualified investors (investisseurs qualifiés) as defined by Article 2, e) of
Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017.
Prospective investors are informed that:
(a)

this Prospectus has not been and will not be submitted for clearance to the AMF; and

(b)

the direct and indirect distribution or sale to the public of the Bonds acquired by them may only be made
in compliance with Articles L.411-1 and L.411-2 of the French Code monétaire et financier and
applicable regulations thereunder.

Singapore
Each Joint Lead Manager acknowledges that the Prospectus has not been registered as a prospectus with the
Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Joint Lead Manager represents, warrants and agrees, that
it has not offered or sold any Bonds or caused the Bonds to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription
or purchase and will not offer or sell any Bonds or cause the Bonds to be made the subject of an invitation for
subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, the Prospectus
or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase,
of the Bonds, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor
(as defined in the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore (the “SFA”)) pursuant to Section 274
of the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the
SFA or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA and in accordance with the conditions specified in
Section 275 of the SFA, or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other
applicable provision of the SFA.
Any reference to the SFA is a reference to the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore and a
reference to any term as defined in the SFA or any provision in the SFA is a reference to that term as modified
or amended from time to time including by such of its subsidiary legislation as may be applicable at the relevant
time.

- 79 -

General Information
Authorisation
1.

The creation and issue of the Bonds has been authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the
Issuer dated 3 December 2019.

Listing and Admission to Trading
2.

Application has been made to Euronext Dublin for the Bonds to be listed on the Official List and
admitted to trading on the Regulated Market. The total expenses related to the admission of the Bonds
to trading on the Regulated Market are expected to amount to approximately € 7,800.

3.

The Irish listing agent is Arthur Cox Listing Services Limited and the address of its registered office is
Arthur Cox Building, Ten Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, Ireland. Arthur Cox Listing Services Limited is
acting solely in its capacity as listing agent for the Issuer in connection with the offering of the Bonds
and is not itself seeking admission to the Official List or to trading on the Regulated Market. The Issuer
will maintain a listing agent in Ireland for as long as any of the Bonds are listed on Euronext Dublin.
The Issuer reserves the right to vary such appointment.

Legal and Arbitration Proceedings
4.

There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings, (including any such proceedings which are
pending or threatened, of which the Issuer is aware), which may have, or have had during the 12 months
prior to the date of this Prospectus, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the
Issuer and the Group.

Significant/Material Change
5.

Since 31 December 2018, there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer or the
Group. Since 30 September 2019, there has been no significant change in the financial position or
financial performance of Issuer or the Group.

Auditors
6.

The independent auditors of the Issuer are PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. (‘‘PwC”), whose registered
office is at Via Monte Rosa No. 91, 20149, Milan, Italy. PwC is registered under No. 119644 in the
Register of Accountancy Auditors (Registro Revisori Legali) held by the Italian Ministry of Economy
and Finance in compliance with the provisions of Legislative Decree No. 39 of 27 January 2010, and is
also a member of ASSIREVI (Associazione Nazionale Revisori Contabili), the Italian association of
auditing firms. The auditors of the Issuer are independent accountants in respect of the Issuer.

Documents on Display
7.

For so long as the Bonds remain outstanding, physical or electronic copies of the following documents
(together, where appropriate, with English translations thereof), upon publication, may be inspected
during normal business hours at the offices of the Fiscal Agent at 60 avenue J.F. Kennedy L-1855
Luxembourg:
(a)

the by-laws (statuto) of the Issuer (see the following hyperlink: http://www.azimutgroup.com/documents/36325/216786/Azimut+Holding+-+Bylaws+2019++ENG.pdf/028e5488-bc6d-4139-a0b7-112bd4f33adc);

(b)

the Fiscal Agency Agreement; and

(c)

the Issuer’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2017 and 2018, the Issuer’s
Consolidated Interim Financial Report as of 30 June 2019 and the Issuer’s Unaudited
Consolidated Interim Financial Report as of 30 September 2019.

The by-laws (statuto) of the Issuer referred to above are translated into English from the original Italian.
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In addition, the Issuer regularly publishes its annual and interim financial statements on its website at
www.azimut-group.com.
Clearing Systems
8.

The Bonds have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The ISIN
code is XS2081611993 and the common code is 208161199. The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard
du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue
JF Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.

Potential Conflicts of Interest
9.

The Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment
banking and/or commercial banking transactions (including, without limitation, the provision of loan
facilities) with, and may perform services for the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of
business.

10.

In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates
may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related
derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the
accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or
instruments of the Issuer or the Issuer's affiliates or any entity related to the Bonds. The Joint Lead
Managers and their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer routinely hedge their credit
exposure to the Issuer consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, the Joint
Lead Managers and their affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which
consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in the Issuer's
securities, including potentially the Bonds offered hereby. Any such short positions could adversely
affect future trading prices of the Bonds offered hereby. The Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates
may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in
respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they
acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments. In addition, the proceeds from
any issue of the Bonds may be used to repay financing granted to the Company by the Joint Lead
Managers and furthermore the Joint Lead Managers may receive commissions on such Bonds. For the
avoidance of doubt, the term “affiliates” shall include parent companies.

Yield
11.

On the basis of the issue price of the Bonds of 99.838 per cent. of their principal amount, the gross real
yield of the Bonds is 1.659 per cent. on an annual basis.

Legend Concerning US Persons
12.

The Bonds and any Coupons appertaining thereto will bear a legend to the following effect: “Any United
States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax
laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code”.

Post-issuance Information
13.

The Issuer will not provide any post-issuance information, except if required by any applicable laws and
regulations.

The Issuer
14.

The Issuer was incorporated under Italian law on 8 November 2001 and is registered with the
Companies’ Register of Milan (company registration number 03315240964). Its registered address is
Via Cusani, 4, 20121 Milan, Italy (telephone number +39 0288981). The length of life of the Issuer is
31 December 2050, subject to renewals.

15.

The Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) of the Issuer is 81560025690EF8540635.
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Rating
16.

The Bonds have been rated “BBB-” by Fitch.

A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision, suspension
or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organisation.
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